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I. Duties and Risks of Sellers

a. Ways to acquire control:

i. Tender offer—SH level transaction.  Two ways to do this:

1. Can do a TO for 60%, gain control, and elect directors; but then owe certain duties to public SH.  May decide to do another TO to get above 90% and follow with a § 253 short form merger.

2. Can form a merger under § 251.
ii. §§ 251 and 253 are corporate level transactions.

1. § 251: each company’s board has to recommend it AND you need SH approval—majority of OS shares for it to take place.

2. Get appraisal under § 262 if cash is the merger consideration.  

3. § 253: short from merger—parent with more than 90% of the sub can acquire the remaining shares w/o a meeting or w/o a vote, just by doing it—by sending a notification to DE SHs notifying them.

4. If parent does a § 251, applicable case is Weinberger.  Need independent negotiating structure to look after minority SHs.  Raises question whether there is a similar sort of 253 obligation no, b/c the board of the sub is not acting—unilateral action by the parent.  (Glassman).  Can you avoid Weinberger and get into Glassman by doing a TO to get to 90% to do a short form Pure Resources type of case.  Not entire fairness obligation with a TO, nor is there one with a short form in Glassman.

5. § 271: sale of all or substantially all assets.  B/c the company is selling itself, there needs to be a recommendation of the BoD and a resolution adopted by the majority of outstanding SHs.

6. Triangular merger—set up a merger subsidiary and have the sub merge with, or into, the target company.  Consideration can be cash or shares of the parent—or even of a third company.  Typically still 251 transactions.
iii. In DE, if board is behaving properly, the DE will side with the board.  

iv. Three repeat scenarios to focus on and keep separate when reading:

1. Company A is minding its own business.  Company B says they want to buy A (i.e. Unocal).

2. Company C is being sold (to Company D) and Company E comes in and says they want to buy C (Revlon).

3. Somewhere between case A and B.  Company A and B decide they want to merge and now Company C comes in and says they are a better fit (Time Warner).

b. Loyalty Duties of Directors

i. Three kinds of self dealing in most of corporate law:

1. Basic self dealing

2. Executive compensation

3. Corporate opportunity

a. In each of these the conflict is very different.

ii. Kors v. Carey (p. 67)

1. United Whelan becomes a SH of Lehn & Frank, eventually acquiring up to 16%.  UW is also a customer of L&F.  L&F is worried UW will acquire some intermediate level of control and throw its weight around.  

2. MGMT buys back the shares of UW at a premium of  few dollrs—“greenmail”

iii. Cheff v. Mathes (p. 67) (1964)

1. Family owned directors bought out insurgent SH—greenmail.

2. Court took intermediate position—gave directors discretion because their decision was made “in good faith after reasonable investigation.”  

3. Court held that good faith belief that they were pursuing a “business purpose” that would benefit the corporation was sufficient to rebut any inference of conflict of interest and to return plaintiffs to the position of producing sufficient evidence to overcome the strong presumption of BJR.

4. Directors may not act solely or primarily out of a desire to perpetuate themselves in office; court held that here, the board’s actions were purely to entrench Cheff.

5. In both cases, allowing the greenmail payment means that some SHs get to sell their stock back at a premium when other SHs are not offered the same opportunity.  Can be viewed as differential treatment of SH of the same class.

6. These cases stand in the background when Unocal comes along.  
iv. Panter v. Marshall Field & Co (7th Cir. 1981)--“arguably taken for the benefit of the corporation.”

v. Is Unocal a response to the above two cases?
vi. Unocal Corporation v. Mesa Petroleum (p 73) (Del. 1985)

1. Issue: validity of a corporation’s self-tender for its own shares which excludes from participation a stockholder making a hostile TO for the company’s stock—selective exchange offer.  

a. Mesa commences a two tier front loaded offer at $54 for 37% of Unocal’s stock—would be highly subordinated and change Unocal’s cap structure.

i. Remember this two tier TO solves the collection action problem the bidder for control faces and prevents SHs from free riding on bidder—have to get rid of possibility that SHs will want to stay around to get the $60 value that Pickens may ultimately bring to the table by his mgmt skills; if no one tenders so they can wait, then he will never get control.

b. Bd meets for 9.5 hours and concludes that the offer is wholly inadequate; $60 minimum value.  Conclude threat to Unocal.

i. When Ibanker decided that $60 was minimum value, he was looking at the third party sales standard, not intrinsic value.  So why a threat?  The SHs own shares in Unocal under current mgmt—Sachs says if you sold it to a third party you might get $60.  Couldn’t you just say that the company is NOT being sold—you want to keep the same people running it?  What reason do SHs have for believing that the current mgmt is going to get the price up to $60/share?!

ii. Supposedly the 2 threats are:

1. Coercion of two-tier bid

2. Notion of “substantive coercion”—danger that SHs will be confused and won’t know that the company is really worth more than $54/share even though it’s never traded above $45/share.

2. Court upholds validity of defensive device, board exercised sound business judgment—will not substitute court’s view with boards if board’s contained “any rational business purpose.”

3. Authority from:

a. 141(a): business and affairs and

b. 160(a): authority to deal in its own stock

4. To get presumption of BJR, directors have to show that they had “reasonable grounds for believing that a danger to corporate policy and effectiveness existed because of another person’s stock ownership.”  Proof is further enhanced by the approval of a board comprised of a majority of outside independent directors.

5. Response must be reasonable in relation to threat posed.

6. Draconian—preclusive or coercive?

a. Court doesn’t think so, but arguably, Unocal’s self-tender was more coercive.

7. Bottom line—learn from Unocal that the company went through the right procedures.

a. Majority independent, outside directors.

b. Process—long meetings, eminent advisors

c. Surest guide to understanding DE law is that DE as a system believes in board governance.  Essence of DE jurisprudence seems to center around ensuring that the board acts well and when it does—protecting it.

8. After Unocal, SEC enacted Rule 14d-10, the “all holders rule” giving all stockholders a right to the highest price in a TO.

vii. Mills Acquisition Co. v. MacMillan (p 84) (Del. 1989)

1. Court held that the trial’s court failure to enjoin the lockup provision b/t Macmillan and KKR had the effect of prematurely ending the auction before the board had achieved the highest price reasonably available for the company.

2. Doesn’t meet Revlon standards.

3. DE’s concept of fairness includes both:

a. Fair dealing

i. Actual conduct of corporate fiduciaries in effecting a transaction

ii. Duty of candor owed by corporate fiduciaries to disclose all material information relevant to corporate decisions from which they may derive a personal benefit

b. Fair price

i. In an auction for corporate control must commit themselves “inexorably, to obtaining the highest value reasonably available to the SHs under all the circumstances.”

4. When issues of corporate control are at stake, there exists “the omnipresent specter that a board may be acting primarily in its own interests, rather than those of the corporation and its shareholders.” (Unocal).  Because of this, an “enhanced duty” must be met at the threshold before the board receives the normal protections of the BJR.  Directors may not act out of a sole or primary desire to “perpetuate themselves in office.”  (Mathes).

5. Facts:

a. Bass group comes along as potential bidder.  Board enters into an ESOP and adopts a poison pill, golden parachute and splits company in two to give management effective control of information.  

b. Gets litigated in MacMillan I—different than Unocal because mgmt is self interested in this transaction because they are going to end up with control.  In Unocal they just want to keep managing the company.  In MacMillan you have mgmt competing for control in MacMillan I—have an auction going on and someone takes control in either case.  Court enjoys it in MacMillan I claiming the Bass offer is clearly superior.

c. Now, directors look to sell the company.  Maxwell shows up again.  Rock says now have “torpid” failures in the process—complete procedural failure—how not to sell a company.  Still cited to this day b/c it represents such a vivid example of board governance gone awry.

i. Ct focuses on role of Lazard—banker.  Not clear that they were working for special committee—looks like they were working for mgmt mgmt picked bankers and spent 500 hours talking with them—looks like they’re working for mgmt, NOT the special committee.

ii. Mgmt accepts KKR bid and decides not to shop for a potentially higher bid from Maxwell.

viii. Williams v. Geier (p 83)

1. Doesn’t trigger Unocal because approved by SHs.  Unocal only triggered when approved by board.  If approved by SHs, either BJR or less than that.

2. Why give this sort of deference to a SH vote?  Why would SH adopt a voting structure that assured a controlling family group sufficient votes to ensure defeat of any takeover attempt?   Maybe think interests are aligned with theirs.
c. Contractual Approaches to Loyalty Issues

i. Controlling Mgmt Opportunism in Market for Corporate Control (p118)

1. Hypo:  Client (Chairman) owns 45% of Cline stock and 100% of Major Corp; transaction at issue is a prospective merger between Major Corp and Cline.

2. Four directors:

a. Chairman owns 45%

b. President, $5 million

c. Dr. X, $1 million

d. Mr. Consultant, $800k (all in annual compensation)

3. Who is least interested of the group?

a. Consultant?  Worried that consultant’s head will be turned by the stream of earnings he receives which is controlled by the chairman.  He’s worried about future payments.

b. Difference between interest in company and expectation of future earnings—interests may change depending on expected value from negotiations.  Say max negotiator could get $60/share and minimum negotiator $50/share.  Difference is $400k.  if can only get price at $52, then someone who doesn’t have a large stake in the company may be more independent.  But, if can get it at $80/share then the stock interests look more significant.  

c. If these individuals—doctors and consultants—services are unique to the company, then may have more control over the negotiations.  But, if they’re not that important and contain a non-compete clause then the BoD may have more control over him.  

d. Rock says point here is that the conflict of interest cases are very fact intensive.  The chairman is easy b/c he has a positional conflict—stands on both sides of the transaction.  The other two examples have a relationship conflict—their relation to the chairman can compromise their independence.

4. Stock ownership can go a long way towards aligning the interests of managers and stockholders.  Now, want to flip the question and start in a moment of calm in the company.  The compensation committee says to look at mgmt’s compensation to determine how to structure is to that if there is a potential change of control transaction the mangers will enthusiastically look at interest of SHs and moreover, will stock around through thick and thin.  How do you structure this?

a. Normal: maximize SH value

b. “Abnormal:” change of control transactions

i. Transactions close or transactions don’t close

ii. Third party bid—nice and high or too low

iii. Company bid for a third party—too high or nice and low

iv. Mergers of equals

c. What are your concerns given this set of scenarios?

i. Want managers not to sell for too low.

ii. Mgrs not to buy for too high.

iii. Mgrs to agree to sell when price is high.

iv. Mgrs to agree when acquisition price is low

v. Mgmt team intact if transaction  close; don’t want them running off to another company.  Also want them to stay up until change of control if deal does close.

d. How would you structure a compensation plan to address these concerns?

i. Going to be agency costs no matter what you do

ii. Cash

iii. Options

iv. Stock

v. Timing

1. Want performance based compensation to give a rough alignment—can be cash and options

2. If give it all to them at once, they can leave

3. Have vesting at options to keep them around (x % vests every x years)  but, can cause another problem—don’t want mgrs to not agree to sell when they should just so their options vest—so could put in an accelerated vesting provision that says if there is a change of control, all unvested options will immediately vest, but again, may cause the managers to sell so they can vest early.

vi. Golden parachute—payment of three times salary and bonus on change of control.  This is std compensation agreement right now.

1. Contractually, good chance mgrs will agree to sell when price is high with the standard compensation contract.  Also goes a long way towards keeping the management team intact.  Between accelerated vesting and golden parachute would be stupid to leave on the eve of a change of control.

vii. What about other problems?

1. Don’t want them to sell for too low.  However, the accelerated vesting provides a strong incentive to do some deal.  If you want to know what company is likely to be taken over—look to companies where CEO is between 59 and 60 years of age.  

2. If problem is a Revlon problem—two bids, one high, one low—managers will clearly prefer high to low.

3. If question is selling today vs. selling in three years, this does nothing at all to solve that problem.  

4. Getting managers not to buy when the price of an acquisition is too high is a very hard problem to solve.

viii. This is a contractual solution to an agency problem.  Different ways to solve this problem; can do so by legally prohibiting certain defenses in the face of a bid.  Or, may approach it contractually.

ii. Gaillard v. Natomas Company (p 125) 

1. Hadn’t written the optimal compensation agreement yet and a bid came along.

2. Board realizes that hadn’t engaged in enough advanced planning and are afraid that managers won’t sell or won’t stick around because of the stress.  

3. Problem of negotiating the golden parachute t the same time they are negotiating the acquisition price—look like self dealing—give an extra $10m to officers and sell company for $1/share less.

4. Flom handles this by negotiating the golden parachute after they negotiate the price.  Can you negotiate this simultaneously with the deal?

5. Have two contrasting cases—in Gaillard the court says no and in Campbell the court says yes.

6. It looks like managers are being bribed to act in the best way for SHs.

7. If there is any problem today similar to the problem in the 1980s it is that managers are willing to sell companies.    Managers get a huge payout at a sale of control.  Who is willing to say no?  Outside directors; in a mid-cap company costs about $150 to hire an outside director.  People really like the money and have usually worked hard to get there.  Outside directors are arguably the ones who have the financial incentives to ask hard question about whether right time to sell the company.
iii. Campbell v. Potash Corp of Saskatchewan, Inc (supp 9)

d. Informational Duties of Directors

i. Problem, page 156:  Great bid on the table.  Issue is whether the board can accept an offer that precludes further shopping?  If they wait a week to think about it, they lose the bid.

1. Offer to buy at 66x earnings; clearly the three-day deadline on the offer is to force acceptance and to preclude any significant shopping.  

2. How do you advise the board?

a. Not sure if they are really out of there in 3 days.  You like the price, but maybe you can get a better price from them or someone else. 

b. If S v. VG stands for the proposition that as a matter of law, cannot sell a company in three days then little pharm says to big pharm that they just can’t legally do it.

c. BUT, if VG stands for something else then you can’t make this claim to the bidder b/c the bidder’s lawyers will call you out.

d. Matters a lot to negotiations how one understands S v. VG.

3. When looking at the deal, look to the amount of deliberation, presence and analysis of investment bankers and lawyers.  

a. Has there been enough process?  In 72 hours you can come up to speed if you know what you’re doing.

4. Existence of 33% SHs also adds to the analysis

a. If this SH thinks 66x earnings is a great price, interests are aligned.

5. Can the board accept an offer that says “no shopping?”

a. This provision says you cannot cooperate with any other bid.  Sometimes can’t solicit competing bids, but you can cooperate with any bids that emerge.

6. Within the three days a competing offer comes in.  Does the company have to issue a press release?

a. Suppose that big pharm says another condition is that they do not want to publicize it.  Not interested in getting into a bidding war.  If issue a press release, offer is void.  Want to know if they have to issue a press release and if they can accept the offer.  

b. The bid won’t always be a secret b/c will have to get SH approval—and will have to issue a press release.  Have obligations to disclose material developments.  At point there is a merger agreement there will be a press release.  When signing on to big pharm—does there have to be one?

i. No, probably not if sufficiently go through the process.  Don’t know for sure if anyone else is willing to buy it; if they think it’s a good price and have a basis for it, then they should be able to accept the deal, the no shop, and not publicize it.

ii. Smith v. Van Gorkom (p 142) (Del. 1985)

1. Facts:  Merger of TU into Marmon.  45% premium over recent mkt price; investment tax credits were unusable to TU, but valuable to an acquirer.  

2. Quick holdings:  Ct of Chancery applies BJR and says defendant wins.  Said no director liability unless: director conflicting interests, bad faith, action not on an “informed basis,” and action is irrational.

a. Issue on appeal was whether BoD decision was informed DE SC said NO.  Articulated the “gross negligence” standard.

b. The majority thought the BoD was just nodding along to the will of the CEO/chair who promoted deal and set the price.  Casual decision making; didn’t even have the merger agreement when voted.  Approved in 2 hours and relied only on VG presentation.  Failure to obtain valuation study.  Merger agreement drafting failure.  Discrepancies b/t what some directors thought the agmt included and what was in actual agmt.  

c. No duty of loyalty problems—no conflict of interests; were independent directors.

d. Duty of care—aftermath was an outrage—DGCL § 102(b)(7): charter provisions preclude director monetary liability for duty of care...

3. Why can’t the board obtain protections from reports or officers under 141(e) of DGCL?

a. There wasn’t a “report” here—just VG’s oral presentation which doesn’t arise to the requisite detail to count as a report.
4. Here, Pritzker is offering $55 and TU trading at $38.  Not a big premium and moreover, thought the premium was meaningless b/c knew that stock was trading low b/c investment credits were not valued.  

5. Why wouldn’t the opportunity to consider other offers for 90 days not satisfy the requirements for the board to inform itself about value.

6. Also applies to problem: Once a competing bid came along or the bd decided to no longer recommend it, the court held that under § 251 the board had but two options:

a. To proceed with the merger and the stockholder meeting, with the board’s recommendation of approval; or

b. To rescind its agreement with Pritzker, withdraw its approval of the merger, and notify SHs that the proposed SH meeting was cancelled.

7. Why can’t they just let SH decide?  Why can’t they change their recommendation after they have already submitted it to SHs?

8. In VG, why wasn’t the market test sufficient to inform the directors whether it was a good bid?  No one else came through w/ a better offer.

9. In original merger agreement, the board acknowledges that it may have competing duties to SHs.  Why wasn’t that enough?  Or, in the future, is there an explicit fiduciary out?  Generally cannot contract out of your fiduciary duties.  

iii. Problem:
1. Client who is the largest franchisee of a franchise that has been experiencing difficulties.  Client possibly interested in buy all of it, but b/c doesn’t have its finances lined up, doesn’t want to trigger the franchisor’s Revlon duties.  But, needs access to confidential records.  What would you say in a letter to the franchisor’s board proposing such access?

a. Maybe even though you’re thinking about a cash bid, you’re vague or you say maybe a joint venture...or just interested in investing.  The idea is that the fast food company will know what you’re saying but that there’s nothing in there to trigger Revlon, is this right?

iv. Revlon, Inc. v. MacAndrews & Forbes Holdings, Inc. (p 157) (Del. 1985)

1. Know that once in Revlon mode have to act as an auctioneer.  

2. This shift in fiduciary duty occurs when it becomes clear that SH are going to be cashed out.

3. Revlon made the mistake when they sought out Forstmann Little.  

4. Rock says a better reading of this case is that Bergerac didn’t want to sell.  This was pre poison pill, before it was invented.  

5. Granted Forstmann special privileges:

a. No shop

b. Lock up—give ability to purchase major assets of target company if another acquirer gets X%

i. Can be structured as asset lock ups, straight up cancellation fees, stock lockups.  Ct ultimately invalidates it.

c. Break up fee.
6. A well incentivized board may in good faith grant a lock up or termination fee in order to encourage a bid by covering the sunk costs of bidding.  But here, the lockup isn’t encouraging Forstmann to bid because he’s already incurred whatever the costs of bidding are.  The concern here is that by paying a breakup fee to mgmt’s favored bidder it will tilt the outcome of the auction in favor of mgmt’s favored bidder b/c it raises the cost of bidding for other bidders.  Rock says it’s a plausible argument, but it’s wrong—exactly what the intuition of the court has, but doesn’t work:

a. Assume the current market capitalization is $600 million. 

b. There are three potential bidders, A, B, and C. Bidder A thinks the company would be worth $800 million to it, Bidder B thinks $810 million, Bidder C thinks $790 million. 

c. From a matter of social policy, the socially optimal outcome is for Bidder B to end up with the assets--they're worth the most in Bidder B's hands. But you're worried management might have some preference for Bidder A. 

d. If there are no lockups, then up until $790 all three bidders will be bidding against each other. At that point Bidder C drops out, until it caps $800, when Bidder A drops out. Bidder B gets the company for $801 million, even though up to $810 million it's still a valuable acquisition for Bidder B. 

e. Assume that Bidder B makes a bid at Time One for $650. Management then turns to Bidder A and says if you bid $675 million, we'll promise you a $20 million breakup fee. B now knows that if it acquires the company, it's going to have to write a check for $20 million to A. Now, Bidder B will only be willing to go up to $790. What's the maximum price that Bidder A will be willing to pay? 

f. Will Bidder A go up to $800 million? If it does, it gets zero profit, but if it lets Bidder B prevail, it gets $20 million. 

g. Bidder A therefore won't go higher than $780. Who wins the auction? Bidder B. In other words, the $20 million breakup fee is a guaranteed payment to Bidder A. 

h. Once that's in place, it becomes an alternative scenario or an opportunity cost for both Bidder A and Bidder B. It therefore reduces the reservation price equally for both, and thus won't affect who wins the auction. 

i. If what you're worried about is the highest valuing bidder acquiring the assets, it's not obvious that the second argument should convince you that there's something wrong with the lockup.

7. But, if breakup fee were $300m it would shift the outcome in favor of mgmt’s preferred bidder.  So long as the breakup fee is bigger than the difference b/t the bid and the reservation price, it will be preclusive.  

8. When the mgmt offers a break up fee to entice another bidder to come in, it cuts into the profits that the bidder who identified the company in the first place will make.  By reducing his profits, you reduce his incentives to research.  

v. Barkan v. Amsted Industries, Inc. (p 167) (Del. 1989)

1. What did they do in Barkan that they didn’t do in Revlon?  Why is Barkan good but Revlon bad?

2. In Barkan, not only went with the first offer, but the mgmt offer.  Didn’t do a market test.  Mgmt came in and said it wanted to buy the company.  If you’re a director with a lot of your money in the company this makes you nervous because managers have an incentive to buy the company for the lowest possible price they can; they also have access to absolutely all the information in the company.  

a. If mgrs are trying to buy the company at X + 10, real concern that this is not what the company is worth.  

3. Given our concern about MBOs, what’s the argument that the board can sell to management without doing a full auction?  

a. Because of tax benefits connected to the ESP nobody will be able to top mgmt.  

b. How do they know no one is willing to top it?

i. Could argue that it’s been in play for 10 months and no bid has come forward, ergo nobody’s willing to pay a higher price.

ii. But, there’s a poison pill in place.  Is that going to drive away bidders?

1. Ct says lots of cases where the pill is in place and still get bids.  People bid all the time making them conditional on the board’s removal.  

4. What about no-shop?  Ct approves it, but with skepticism.  The court approves the entire settlement, but with intense skepticism about the way it was actually approved.  If you’re running the next MBO and you’re making sure it doesn’t get enjoined—these are the sort of things you pay close attention to they are the warning shots of the DE courts.

vi. For the next three cases, focus on the style and detail of their rulings.  Consider this scenario:

1. Have two publicly traded companies, A and B.

2. A is willing to enter into a merger agreement with B for an exchange of stock.  

3. Neither A nor B has a controlling SH.

4. Willing to do a stock for stock deal and call it a “merger of equals.”  

5. Would also like to put in a “no talk provision.”—operates to prohibit the corporation from soliciting, initiating, encouraging, or taking any action that knowingly encourages offers from another; even providing information to a third party.  

6. If counsel to board of B, and A says to you—we’re willing to enter into the deal, but only if we have this no-talk.  A is much bigger than B; A is GM and B is a little bus company.  Nobody’s going to takeover A, but some people might show interest in B.

7. The board asks you if there are any legal problems in entering into a no-talk.

a. The bd would not be able to just sit on their hands if another bid came in—S v. VG says the board doesn’t have the ability to fail to consider other bids.  No agreement can take away that power.  

i. Why the fact that the company was on the market for six months in Smith wasn’t sufficient for the board to be informed.  Compare Smith to Barkan—in Barkan, it has been on the market for ten months and nobody showed up—same argument as in Smith, but didn’t work.  You’re first instance of concern in advising B is Smith v. VG; there’s a problem in agreeing to a no-talk without any sort of out.  Smith claims that they had a fiduciary out, but the court didn’t believe them.

vii. Ace Limited v. Capital Re Corporation (supp 16)—what does a fiduciary out look like?

1. The no talk is in place unless the board concludes in good faith with input from financial advisors that there is another good bid, that furnishing such information to the potential bidder is required by the board’s fiduciary duties, the board’s confidentiality agreement with the new bidder is no more favorable than the one with Ace, and the board doesn’t give more info to the new bidder than to the current bidder.  If you’re representing B, need to draft some sort of fiduciary out, or else you’re in breach of S v. VG.  

2. Ace wants to acquire Capital Re.  Not in Revlon land because no cash sale an there’s no controlling SH.  As a merger of equals, no duty on Capital Re’s directors to seek the highest available offer.  What duties do fall on those directors?  

a. If Capital Re violates the no-talk the deal doesn’t go through.

3. Capital Re’s attorney said that entering into negotiations with XL was “consistent with” their fiduciary duties—it didn’t say that the board was “required to.” Before being too hard on the attorney, think about the situation he finds himself in—has ten minutes to figure out whether or not there’s a fiduciary duty to deal with XL.  He knows he’s on the Unocal side of the Unocal/Revlon line.  Life would be easier on the Revlon side, because then the board would absolutely have the duty to talk to XL.

4. § 251 (b) requires a resolution by board declaring merger’s advisability.  If after bd has recommended a merger and passed a resolution a better offer shows up such that the board can no longer declare its advisability.  

5. § 251 (c) amended to provide that the bd could submit it to SH not withstanding a subsequent decision that it is not advisable; appears in 146.
viii. Phelps Dodge v. Cyprus Amax Minerals Company (supp 31) (Del. Ch. 1999)

1. Decision not to negotiate must be an informed one.  Bd can use its business judgment to do so, but must be informed.  

ix. In Re IXC Communications, Inc. Shareholders Litigation (supp 34) (Del. Ch. 1999)

1. Ct defers to bd’s business judgment because they were fully informed when adopting the no-talk provisions.
x. Hypo:  management of a firm, HCA, is considering making a MBO offer to take the company private.  Together, decide to do a merger where the public SHs will get cash.  

1. Mgmt group is concerned—not sure if whether, in fact, they can take the company private.  Unsure about financing, banks, etc.  What they don’t want to do is trigger a bidding war that could spin out of control with some other outfit putting in their own mgmt.  

2. The mgmt group approaches the board, saying thinking about making a bid for the company.  Won’t do so unless the board agrees, but wants the board to keep it quiet.  Would like access to company information to decide whether they ultimately will make a bid.  

3. Chairman, who is an independent directors, realizes that he needs a special committee of independent directors.  First, hire own lawyers.  

4. An outside director asks if they have to make a press release that mgmt is talking to them and cooperating w/ them in helping to put together a potential offer.  Look to Fort Howard.

xi. In Re Fort Howard Corp SHs Litigation (p 174) (Del. Ch. 1988)

1. Plaintiffs claim that the bd acted through an independent committee and did all it could do to push the transaction in management’s direction.  

2. P’s lost the case, in that they lost their preliminary injunction motion, but the court put out warning signals.

3. Mgmt selected special committee by hand; picked out their counsel and their bankers.  Gives indication that counsel is working for mgmt and not the special committee—but ct doesn’t think it’s as bad as in Macmillan.  

4. Ct says what they did has “aspects that supply a suspicious mind with fuel to feed its flame.”

xii. Nabisco (p 187)

1. Same as in Ft. Howard—mgmt comes in and says they want to make a deal, but they rather that they didn’t announce it.  Special committee was sealed—kept Ross Johnson away from its selection and announced immediately that mgmt group was considering making a bid.

2. Text book example of how DE corp law works—as a technical legal mater, D’s won in Ft Howard and YET, made it crystal clear that the process followed in Ft. Howard was suboptimal such that in the next deal—RJR Nabisco—Atkins, being in the room, is not going to behave the same way—this time he ran a textbook example of how you’re supposed to run an auction.  

a. Here, they get an independent committee that is truly independent.  Don’t let the mgmt committee be involved.  If the independent committee can honestly say that it is not in the best interest of the company to make a disclosure, there is good reason to think that decision will be permitted.

3. Assume now that before the court’s approval of the sale agreement the client is approached by another prospective buyer, offering significantly more than the price in the existing agreement to sell.  Under this scenario, what do you tell bidder?  Sorry, auction is over?

4. Can a board stop an auction at an announced date if a later bid is received that exceeds the prior bids?  If so, under what conditions?

a. This reads like a BJR opinion, but yet when you read Revlon sounds like Revlon duties demand some sort of higher level of scrutiny than BJR.  This is a $25 billion deal.  Does the board think KKR is bluffing when the say they’re going to walk?  

5. Next question is a hard one—can you end auctions?

a. Can a special committee running an auction credibly say to the bidders that the auction ends at 12 midnight because any bid received thereafter will not be considered?

b. What if you’re representing the bidder and they ask whether they should put their last dollar on the line or if they should keep some money in reserve in case there is another round of bidding?  

c. Supposed you’re convinced that the board is serious.  Does the board have the power to end the auction?

i. No, because bidders can always go to SHs and tell them they should turn down the first deal.  

ii. Under DE law, bd simply does not have the power to totally end an auction:

1. Duty to update your priors, to continue to be informed and consider new info that comes in and

2. The non-waivable aspect of SH approval; as long as widely dispersed ownership structure...as long as no way for SH to fully commit; so on the selling side no way to fully commit that an auction ends on a certain day.

3. In auction theory, in order to extract the highest price, it is important to say that the auction ends at X moment.  Inevitably, the inability to do so costs SH money over time.  

4. Winner’s curse:  if you bid below what the company is worth you won’t win the bid; if you bid above it you will likely be the owner.  Because there is no balancing out, one often finds over paying in auctions.

xiii. Pennaco (supp 38)

1. If you’re in Revlon Land what exactly do you have to do?  Run an auction?  Pennaco says no.  

2. In this case, the board had been open to meeting with potential acquirers and sharing information.  A whole bunch of companies had looked at it in connection with joint venture efforts.

3. This case is different from MacMillan where had directors deeply involved in the sale of the company. But at the same time here have spectacle of mgmt having an excessive desire to sell the company.  

4. Mgmt has such large stockholding interests that the court seems to have great confidence that they’re going to act to maximize SH value.  But in VG, he had huge stock interests too.  Why does the court hold that the no shop satisfies the duties while in VG it does not?

a. Signed a deal with Marathon and only then had to do the market test.  Structured the same with VG—lock up deal with Pritzker and no competing deals come in so it’s validated.  If another inquiry comes in, the board has bot the right and obligation to consider it—can’t tie your hands so you can’t talk with people no matter what is written in the acquisition agreement. 

b. Have well incentivized directors who are seeking out the highest price.

xiv. MONY (2004)

1. Makes it clear that under Revlon don’t have to run an auction.  Most interesting because of bidder’s curse problem—real risk to the company if you try to do it by auction.  If an auction fails, a failed auction would glaringly display the weaknesses; that’s taken to be an entirely reasonable position for a board to take in this case so that it may well be the optimal strategy to sell first subject to this market test.

2. Are there mandatory rules under DE fiduciary duty law?

a. Submitting to SH is mandatory.

b. Auctions are not mandatory.

c. No per se prohibition on no-shops or no-talks.

d. If you are a well incentivized board, who does a careful job over the years of identifying potential bidders and negotiate a deal with someone they think is the highest bidder, is there a violation?

xv. Hypo:  Client operates in several sectors.  Take over defenses are in place- flip in, flip over poison pill.  So long as the poison pill is in place, no one can take over the company but the board can redeem the poison pill.  

1. Hostile bid at $70 for cash.  Firm financing, contingent on redemption of pill.  Within range of fairness, but in low end.  

2. Advisor says that company could emulate the value for SH--create a dividend in cash and short term and long term notes--have a value of $64/share.  Recap would have total value of 72-74--not cash.  

3. No SH vote would be required.  Bidder wants the board to redeem the rights to let the SHs choose b/t A) $70/share cash for 100% [conditional on removing the pill] or B) $72-74/share recapitalization.

xvi. How do you analyze this?  A & B are on the table.  As a SH, what is your view?

1. With A, uncertainty of valuation is much less and might not want to continue being invested long term in a company that just sold off its best assets.

2. On the other hand, B might provide more value long term.

3. As an investor, do you want to make the decision or do you want the board to make it for you?

4. With the poison pill in place, the board makes the decision.  If the poison pill is removed, then the SH makes the decision.  SH then are confronted with a $70/share tender offer.  If a majority does not tender then the recap goes through.

xvii. How to analyze these fact patterns where bidder on the table:

1. First question:  is the board, in this circumstance, subject to Revlon duties?  Is it an auctioneer charged with getting the best price for the SH?

a. P v. Time: Revlon triggered when abandon l/t strategy—selling crown jewels might trigger this.

b. Active bidding process seeking to sell itself or to effect a business reorganization involving a clear break-up of the company (Mills Acq)

c. A target abandons its l/t strategy and seeks an alternative transaction also involving the breakup of the company.

2. Does selling its crown jewels trigger Revlon duties?

a. In Revlon, alternative transaction was a sale, not a recap—but still it’s an alternative transaction that could lead to the breakup.

b. What is a contest for control?  Two management teams trying to manage the same set of assets.  Sense in which you can think of incumbent management as an alternative bidder for control.  How does this relate to Paramount v. Time?

xviii. Paramount v. Time (p 203)

1. Managers of Time conclude that a merger with Warner is the best thing to do.  Do a stock for stock merger—Warner is actually getting 60% of the shares, but the Time’s BoD is staying on board.  This looks suspicious—like they’re paying for their seats, but it’s not how the deal went down.

2. Paramount offers $175 cash for Time.  Time still thinks Warner deal is superior so they work on renegotiating the deal.  Want to keep the SH from voting.  In order to complete this deal, Time is issuing over 20% of stock—according to the NYSE rules Time SH get to vote.  Time directors worried that the SH might make the wrong decision and take the Paramount deal instead.

3. Time responds with a tender offer—not a 251 transaction so don’t need SH to vote.  Doesn’t accomplish everything you want to accomplish because have to take on debt.  Would not have worked if did stock for stock tender b/c would be issuing in excess of 20% and would have to be voted on.  Borrowing $10B doesn’t trigger SH vote, nor does using this to buy share.

4. Paramount now comes in and moves to enjoin this “defensive” tender offer.  Paramount couldn’t have just said—ok, continuing buying Warner and we’ll continue pursing you (Time)—there would have been antitrust problems.  

5. What could Paramount argue?  

a. Revlon duties triggered?

i. Depends what sale of control means under Revlon.  

ii. Know the shares of Time and Warner were widely held in the market.  Calpers had 1% of each.  No one had much more, especially not a control block.  Before, control was in the market—thus, control has not been sold.  This is one notion of control.  
iii. The other is that before it was the Warner board who was in control of Warner assets and now it is the Time board that is in control of the Warner assets and thus, it is a change of control.

b. Unocal argument—response was excessive.

6. Why doesn’t Revlon apply?

a. Court says no obligation under Revlon because proceeding according to long term plan.  No obligation to stop because someone offers cash.  But this doesn’t stop the analysis:

b. By transform or restructuring the transaction from a share exchange to a cash tender offer has deprived the SH of a vote.  Look to Unocal.

7. Why not Unocal?

a. Time’s offer here is not coercive.  The only threat is that SHs might be confused.  Nor is there a threat of inadequate value.  

b. Court disagrees with such a narrow view of Unocal principally b/c it would involve the court in substituting its judgment for what is a “better” deal for that of a corporation’s BoD.

8. Ct gave directors their 141(a) deference.  Interesting the extent to which the court reached out to overrule the Interco decision.

a. But, 141 itself doesn’t answer another question.  Enterprise decisions are clearly within the realm of the BoD.  BUT, ownership decisions are traditionally in hands of SHs.  141 by itself  answer the question which is appropriately decided by the SH or firm.

b. Language here talks about the “threat of confusion”—it is then used to justify the reversal of Interco on the grounds that there, the court was insufficiently sensitive to the possibility of confusion.

9. Question remained post Time whether a company could “just say no” and pursue their long-term plan, even if topping offer.

xix. Paramount v. QVC
1. Paramount decides to merge with Viacom.  Negotiates a deal and along comes QVC.  Paramount says no and loses again.
2. Revlon duties are triggered in this case because it turns out that Viacom has a controlling SH who will be the controlling SH of the whole thing after the merger.  
3. This is a transaction where company goes from being held by dispersed form in the market and then goes to a controlling SH.
xx. Post Paramount v. Time, the scope of the “just say no” permission is unclear.  Not as clear when a board has an obligation to pull the pill.  A couple cases to think of: 

1. Unocal:  suppose Unocal had had a poison pill in place when T Boone Pickens came along and offered to buy the company.  Wants the poison pill redeemed.  

a. Board says no.  

b. Plaintiff comes in and says under Unocal, need to pull the pill and corporation defends and says no--there is a threat of inadequate price.  Almost certainly a winning argument for defendants.  No need to come up with some alternative transaction.  Does not, however, render the company takeover proof.  

c. As go down path of poison pill simply means that Pickens has to change his strategy.  Pickens instead says will make offer at X/share contingent on the poison pill being withdrawn.  At the same time will put up a slate of directors for the next general meeting who are committed to exploring the sale of the company.  

d. If SH like Pickens bid they vote for a new board that will consider it and pull the pill.  If the board does everything they should do then most people would likely argue they could just say no.

2. In paramount v. QVC they didn't do their homework.  Didn't really consider whether QVC offer could be better.  Some think that had Paramount really looked at the offer and finally concluded that it was better for Paramount to do a deal with Viacom then the court may have turned out the other way.

a. Counsel should have realized that there are never bright line rules in DE law.  The boundaries are blurry and have to be aware of fact that boundaries ex post might move if you don’t fulfill the letter, but the spirit of the analysis.  

xxi. Controlling SH:

1. Under DE law a control SH may sell the control block at a premium without making the sale opportunity open equally to other SH.

2. However, if selling crown jewels at a premium to a looter and had a reason to know might loot, could maybe go after control SH. (Gerdes v. Reynolds)

3. If control SH order the corporation to cooperate with due diligence, might change the case.

a. Under 505(b)(1)—at the point the control SH goes beyond selling control, but uses it as access to corporate property to get people to cooperate, the action becomes much less certain as to whether it’s ok.

xxii. Omnicare v. NCS Healthcare (supp 75)—extremely controversial

1. Omnicare and Genesis were bidding.  Omnicare was first just interested in a sale of assets of NCS.  Then, Genesis came in and was wiling to pay down NCS debt and give the SHs $3/share.  

2. Conditions of the sale included:

a. A no shop provision

b. No fiduciary out

c. SH agreement to vote for the merger

d. Termination fee

e. 251(c) commitment—if goes to SH to vote and then have SH voting agreement, court says it’s mathematically impossible to vote the merger down.  Merger would be approved notwithstanding board’s counter recommendation.

3. 203 vote.  § 203 is DE’s version of a kind of statute that spread quite quickly among the states—says no merger b/t interested SH and a corporation for period of 3 years before such person became an interested SH.  Says cannot do a second stage of your merger unless you have satisfied one of the exceptions.  

a. If you’re a highly leveraged bidder who is counting on using the assets of the target as collateral for the debt taken on in acquiring the company, this gets in the way.  As long as you own 60%, rather than 100%, you cannot use the assets of the subsidiary in order to secure the debt of the parent—this would be self-dealing and easily attacked under duty of loyalty as misuse of corporate property.  

b. 203 is meant to protect this highly leveraged bid and front end loaded two tier bid.  If do a subsequent takeout merger of minority, in order for 203 not to apply, need to get 2/3 of the minority.  Majority of minority provision.  Supermajority of minority.

c. 203 is this provision that all of a sudden brings the board into the picture.  

4. Court didn’t like the board actions, even though it looked like they did everything right.  Court says the board has to sell the company, not the control SH.  Here the company committed ahead of time to vote b/c Genesis wouldn’t commit otherwise; means that the SH vote is ultimately decided.

5. Revlon case or Unocal case?

a. Unocal.  Court said not a Revlon case “because the stock for stock merger between Genesis and NCS did not result in a change of control, the NCS directors duties under Revlon were not triggered by the decision to merge with Genesis.”

b. Reverse of QVC—in Paramount held in market w/ no controlling SH then goes to controlling SH.  When this happens, triggers Revlon.  This is the other way around.  Goes from controlling SH to no controlling SH.

6. How analyze under Unocal?

a. In Unocal, board doesn’t want it to take place so drives away the bid—looks like entrenchment.  Here, not a question of that at all!  They are selling control.  No classic defensive stance.  Defending the merger as opposed to defending the corporate bastion.  Court says defending the merger agreement triggers heightened scrutiny.  Why does defending a merger trigger this?

i. Remember 251 requires stockholder approval—not something the board can get around.  Board not authorized to sell the company without it.  Problem with deal defenses is the extent to which it takes away the SH power or capacity to approve or disapprove the deal.

ii. Here, the threat is that the Genesis deal might go away; response is preclusive in that there is a 60% SH and deal cannot be voted down.

iii. Would be coercive if the merger agreement contained a large termination fee to Genesis—then voting no would be bankrupting the company.

iv. Omnicare prevailed in bidding contest and once they were released from the SH agreement, Omnicare looked a lot better than Genesis.

7. Rock says don’t rely on the holding in Omnicare—and that the Chancellor makes it go away in Orman.

xxiii. Orman v. Cullman (supp 98)

1. Cullman owned controlling interest in General Cigar.  Along comes Swedish Match Company.

2. SM wants to end up with 2/3 of company, and wants to keep the Cullman’s running it.  Because same controlling SH, Revlon is NOT triggered.  SM doesn’t want to be a stalking horse though and wants to know how to avoid it:

a. Deal structure SM has a sub.  Do a 251 merger between sub and GC.  Minorities getting $15/share.  Cullmans keeping what they have plus what they’ve sold.  SM gets minority shares as well.  Need a SH vote in 251.

b. Why isn’t this coercion?

i. SH agreement says if you vote it down get no other deal for 18 months; not coercive because never had a right to a deal anyway (b/c had a controlling SH who could have voted them down.  Not forever.  Have majority of minority.  Explicit threat is no deal.

ii. Cullman’s agree to vote against any deal for 18 months.
e. Sale of Control

i. Essex Universal Corp v. Yates (p 221)
II. Risks of Selling Too Cheaply

a. Providing Bargaining Power for Target Management

i. Two tier tender offer—prisoner’s dilemma

1. Two prisoners kept in separate cells; suspected of having jointly engaged in criminal conduct.  Problem facing officer is how to get the two prisoner’s to confess to jointly engaging in the activity.

2. Options given to prisoners:

a. If both confess, will get of for 5 years each

b. If A confesses, and B remains silent, will let A our jail and B gets 10 years and vice versa.  

c. If neither confess, both go to jail for one year.

3. Why good strategy:

a. The fact that the inmates can’t communicate with one another is critical.

b. The dominant strategy ends up being for both prisoners to confess and each get 5 years—even though they would have been better off with neither confessing (b/c would have received 1 year).  This collective action problem causes a suboptimal outcome for the group.

4. If replace A & B with two tier tender offers get exactly the same problem.

a. If relax assumption that they are unable to communicate does not solve the problem because there is still an incentive to cheat—neither knows whether the other will cheat so have same considerations.

b. To get out of prisoner’s dilemma need combination of coordination, plus enforcement of the coordination.  

5. Suppose bidder owns 1 share, A owns jut under 50% and B owns 50%.  

a. Bidder says will buy 50% (1 share for $40/cash) and the other 50% at $30/cash.  If bid fails, market price will go up to $37/share.  

b. A and B may tender or not tender.  If neither tenders, bidder goes away, stock price goes up to $37/share.  

c. If both tender, each get ½ of their shares picked up in first tender and ½ in second (b/c of pro rata distribution).  Blended price is $35/share.  

d. If A tenders, and B doesn’t—A gets all shares picked up at $40 and B will get $30 in second stage and vice versa.  Strategy is to tender under either circumstance if both think they will end up getting $35/share.  

e. The shark repellant amendment solves this—generally requires the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of at least 75% of all of the outstanding shares to approve such business combination.

i. Look at shark repellant on page 974.  Idea is to let fewer SHs block the transaction and provides an incentive for the nonapplicability of this provision in 607(c)—want to channel their deals into 607(c).  How to avoid reach of 607(b)—shall not apply if...consideration to be received in cash or same form of tender 1 (can’t be two tiered).  Get out of supermajority requirement by it not being two tiered.

ii. 607(d) not applicable if:

1. Approved by majority of continuing directors and they comprise a majority of the board

2. Essentially, if convince them it’s a good deal, then 607 no longer applies.  

3. Siebert tells us whether this is a valid provision to put in the charter.

ii. Shark Repellents

1. Seibert v. Gulton Industries (p 233)

a. § 102(b)(1)—any provision for mgmt of business... powers of corp, directors, or stockholders... if such provisions not contrary to law of this state...

b. § 102(b)(4)—allows you to put in any provisions to vote requiring more stock(?)
c. Could you challenge this provision under DE law if you wanted to be offered a 2-tier TO?
i. To get the provision in, 242 says need recommendation of BoD then majority vote of OS shares.  To get it out, what do you need?
1. Can with a simple majority provide that any changes to the amendment requires a supermajority (such as to remove 607).  102b, with 242, suggests you can in fact entrench with a simple majority and thereby requires a supermajority to change.  Classic puzzle of democratic constitutional law.
d. Shark repellents were popular for awhile, but they don’t do anything against a 100% cash offer or against an offer that the board thinks is low.  

iii. Protecting the Board from Proxy Fights

1. Hypo:  Have bidder acquiring 25% of target in privately negotiated transactions.  Bidder then commences a pubic TO for 26% at a cash price bd feels is inadequate.  Second step will be junk bonds w/ a value of $54/share.  Assume that 203, nor any other defensive devices are present.

a. Target’s board looks to the market for corporate control to find a better alternative; assume that just as the deal is closing the bd locates offer for all cash, just higher than that of the bidder.

b. BoD then enters into agreement with W granting them 19% of authorized but unissued shares; issues 19% block of shares at $40 share.  Now has to be approved by SHs.  

i. B has 510,000

ii. Other SHs have 490,000

iii. W has 190000

c. Merger vote for $60/cash.  Even if B votes against it—with Other + W the motion is going to carry.  The board, by issuing 19% of shares has diluted a controlling SH down below a point where he had control.  Can the board do this?

2. Blasius v. Atlas Corp (p 242) (Del. Ch. 1988)

a. Blasius—target.  Classified board in the charter—charter permitted board to have 15, but only 7 had been appointed by-law when Atlas entered the picture.

b. Atlas initiated a consent solicitation to increase the board to 15 (they would then appoint 8 (of its own) members.  

i. Point of a staggered board is to have it in the charter—will require two elections to gain a majority of the board b/c only 1/3 is elected every year.  If put this in by by-law not effective b/c could have a proxy contest to amend the bylaws!  109(a) says could vote on the bylaws to change it to an unclassified board. 

ii. BUT, if in charter, the only way to change it is to amend the charter—and the board is not going to give it. 

c. Blasius responded by increasing the board from 7 to 9 authority to do this comes from DGCL §223.  223(a)(1) allows incumbent directors to elect two or more directors.  If Blasius successfully executes this, prevents Atlas from taking over the board.

d. Court applies heightened scrutiny; court says Blasius was interfering with shareholder franchise.

e. Note on consent solicitations:  Consent solicitations are default—have to amend the charter (by vote) to take them out if don’t want them.  Most managers  like it, but institutional investors not willing to get rid of it.  However, today most companies don’t have this in its charter; lawyers know it’s inconvenient and take it out from day one.  And midstream companies won’t amend its charter to permit it b/c the board would have to approve it too.  DGCL §228 says that any action which may be taken at any annual meeting or special meeting, may be taken w/o a meeting, w/o prior notice and w/o a vote if consent in writing is signed by the holders of O/S stock having the minimum numbers of votes required if all shares acted on were present and voted; if can do it at a meeting, can do it by consent solicitation.  Does not displace 223.  (Also a useful statute when there is only one SH—would be silly to have a formal meeting w/ yourself—labor saving device for closely held corporations.

3. Aquila v. Quanta Services, Inc (supp 108) (Del Ch. 2002)

a. Aquila owned 38% of Quanta.  

b. Corporate act being challenged by Aquilla is creation of this SECT—stock employee compensation trust by Quanta.  How it works:

i. Bd issues 10% of Quanta’s outstanding shares to be distributed over 15 years.  Company buys these shares through debt: Quanta gives loan to SECT and uses the proceeds of the loan to buy shares.  Quanta now has a note from SECT to Quanta; note for $132m, and $80 cash (cash is b/c of creditor protection—amt of consideration given for shares  be less than par value.  There is 10% shares in the employee’s trust.  

ii. Quanta would advance SECT the necessary cash to make the payments on the note; if Quanta  forward the $, then stocks dispersed (?).

c. Shares are voted as follows:

i. If been allocated to employees, employees vote them. 

ii. Unallocated shares shall be voted by trustee in accordance with confidential instructions from participants in Quanta’s employee stock participation program.

d. This SECT helps Quanta b/c it can use it to “scare” employees—look how much wealth is tied up in job or shares.  If choice is b/t extra $5/share or avoiding disruption in their working lives, expectation is that employees will prefer stability over additional $/share .  In contrast, institutional investors will prefer an extra $2/share to instability.

e. Seems like it’d be much easier for Quanta to issue the same 10% to Q sub in exchange for $130m note.  BUT loyalty issues.  DGCL §160 both permissive and restrictive—160(c) would essentially neutralize the shares in the SECT and make them not work.

f. Court says Blasisus  attach—don’t have to meet compelling justification standard.  Unocal applies because viewed as a response to Aquilla.

g. Does it meet the Unocal/Unitrin standard?  Draconian? (preclusive or coercive?)  Within a range of reasonableness?  Rock says just know Unocal applies. 

h. Why isn’t heightened scrutiny triggered here?  Are they acting in a way that is any less designed to interfere with SH franchise?

i. 10% of shares voted in a way employees would vote them—not the way SH would, but the idea is that employees will vote form them in a way SH want.  Looks like interfering, but court still says Blasius  apply—says 10% not enough.

i. Court applies the Unocal standard and says Acquila wins.  BUT the court denies the injunction and says that if Acquila loses by a margin that could have been determined by this 10% then the court can reconsider.  Court doesn’t think it’ll ever come to this.

j. Fails the Unocal standard because the threat to the corporation is “employee instability.”  Court  buy the connection b/t the threat and the remedy and the response to the threat.  

k. Take away:

i. Opinion shows that Unocal is not a toothless standard.  If Unocal is going to really impose any constraints on defensive actions it’s important for judges to say certain actions do not pass the Unocal test.

ii. Tells us 10% dilution not enough to trigger Blasius.  Unocal will be triggered by defensive conduct and need to make a showing that appropriate relation to defensive action.  
4. Chesapeake Corp v. Shore (supp 119) (Del. Ch. 2000)

a. Chesapeake is a VA corp. and Shorewood DE corp; both companies think merging is a good business idea, but fighting about who should run the combined operation.  

b. Shorewood  trying to takeover Chesapeake b/c Chesapeake incorporated in VA which permits a dead hand poison pill; means proxy fight with tender offer won’t work against a VA corp—can takeover board, but can’t get rid of poison pill.  So, when VA corp taking over DE corp have a certain advantage.  

c. Shorewood’s defense is a by-law amendment to put in a super majority voting provision.  It works as a defense because Shore made the mistake of having a classified board by by-laws rather than in its certificate—this turns by-law board into effective classified board.

d. How does this prevent Chesapeake from taking them over?

i. If have single class board and have a poison pill it will take 3-6 months to take over the company—essentially how ever long it takes to have an annual meeting; prepare proxy statement, line up SH support, etc.

ii. If have by-law staggered board, protected by supermajority by-law that cannot be amended: two SH meetings, 15-18 months.  

iii. The fight here is about one year.  Not talking about whether poison pill is permissive—water under the bridge—they are permissive.  Talking about the legal review of defensive measures that have the potential to delay a takeover.

e. Have this situation that in order to render bd effective—have BoD adopt a by law that says any new by laws need 66 and 2/3 %.  Is this permissible under § 109?

i. BoD is adopting by-laws according to the delegated power in 109, but  could argue that under 109(a) the by-law is invalid because it acts to divest SH or limits their power to adopt, amend, or repeal bylaws.  Could do it if put it in the charter, but to do it by by-law raises a serious 109(a) problem.  (BUT, they  make this argument here).

f. Another way to dispose of it if not a 109(a) argument.  Court says BOTH Unocal and Blasius apply.  

i. FIRST have analysis under Unocal, and THEN have analysis under Blasius.  Bylaw cannot survive a Unocal review unless it is supported by a compelling justification.

ii. In a careful opinion (in an analysis designed to withstand review by DE SC who is more sympathetic to BoD).  Ct concludes does not meet Unocal and does not meet Blasius.

g. HYPO: dilutes majority SH down to minority so that it no longer has a practical veto under sales of assets or control.  

i. COME BACK TO HYPO, PREVIOUS NOTES

ii. Clearly triggers Unocal.  Trigger Blasius?

1. Stock issuance going to be less than 20% b/c if 20% or more it triggers a SH vote.  If have a 51% SH then its’ going to come out against it.  Have to avoid that so cannot issue more than 19%.

2. Aquila says 10% doesn’t do it.  Could argue that this is to interfere w/ SH franchise, but could also argue it’s for SH to get a higher bid for the company.  No DE case exactly on point.  

iv. New Stock Issues

1. Shareholder Purchase Rights Plans:

a. When use one?

i. Company—Lipton Inc.  Market price is $30/share, but general concern company is worth a lot more than market price.  Afraid someone will launch a TO for the company.  Company decides to adopt a rights plan.

b. How it works:

i. Bd can adopt the rights plan before the hostile TO, or right after it’s announced—only takes an afternoon to enact it.  Because of this, every company has a virtual poison pill.

ii. Flip-in:

1. “Each holder of a right shall thereafter have a right to receive, at a price equal to the then current purchase price multiplied by a number of 1/100th of a preferred share for which a right is then exercisable.”

2. This means take the purchase price--$120 times number of shares you own (100)= $12,000.  As a 100 shareholder get to invest this money in exchange for A (A=the then current purchase price ($120)) times the number of shares (100) divided by B (B=50% of the then current market price ($30) of common shares of the company).   Means get $12000/ $15/share= 800 shares for $12,000 or $15/share.  

3. Hurts Pickens because he doesn’t get any of the rights.  “From and after the occurrence of such an event, any rights that were owned by the acquiring person shall be void, and any holder of such rights shall have no right to exercise such rights.”  Everyone else gets to buy, for every share they own, 8 shares at half-price, but Pickens doesn’t.  

iii. Flip-over:

1. Right to buy shares in the post merger company.  After the merger, Lipton shares will be converted into Mesa shares.  If purchase price of Mesa is $60, it’s $12,000 divided by 50% of $60, or $30.  So for $12,000 get to purchase 400 shares of Mesa.  Dilutes Mesa’s shares.

c. Authority to issue it:

i. Right to purchase preferred shares: already authorized but unissued stock in the charter.  DGCL § 151 says the board can issue and approve issuance of authorized stock.  151(a).

ii. Authority to issue rights: DGCL § 157.  

iii. The CoI can give the board power to issue authorized, but unissued stock (and typically does) and the statute gives the board power to issue the rights and the underlying preferred.

d. Assuming Pickens owns 9.9% when he launches the TO in hopes to acquire an additional 81% of the company, Under the rights plan, once Pickens announces his tender offer he is not yet an “acquiring person” and the pill isn’t triggered.  According to § 3(a) an “acquiring person” is “any person who, or which, together with all affiliates or associates, shall be the beneficial owner of 15% of the outstanding shares...until the earlier of the 10th day after the share acquisition date (first date of public announcement of the company or acquiring person that an acquiring person has become such) or the 10th business day after the commencement of any person of a tender or exchange offer, the consummation of which would result in that person becoming the beneficial owner of 15% of more.”  When the TO is announced, he doesn’t yet own 15%.  But once, the TO is launched, he falls under this definition.  

e. IS IT VALID? 
2. Telvest v. Olson (p 256) (Del. Ch. 1979)

a. Here, different from a poison pill.  Instead of issuing rights to the SHs, OSI is issuing preferred stock directly.  Thought to drive Telvest away b/c the P/S sets up this supermajority approval requirement that makes it harder for Telvest to take over.  Court says it’s invalid—“where the holders of the CS are given the right to approve certain transactions by only the majority vote required by the various applicable statutes, that right cannot be changed short of an amendment to the certificate of incorporation approved by the stockholders pursuant to 8 Del. Ch. § 242.”

b. Directors can’t alter these voting rights by resolution with absence of SH approval.  Saw in 151(a) that a board resolution can alter voting rights if allowed in CoI.  Defendant argues that part of CoI—because they look to 104 which defines the certificates not only as the original certificate, but also all other certificates or instruments that are filed pursuant to other provisions, including 151, and have the effect of amending or supplementing the original CoI.  

i. 151(g) changed after Telvest—says “when anything filed under this section is effective, it shall have the effect of amending the certificate.”  

c. Next Ps argue not really P/S—has same value and benefits of regular stock, just adds new voting procedure.  Would this argument apply to poison pill?  The P/S in the pill has a value of a penny/share—is that enough to make it not sham?

v. Poison Pills

1. Moran v. Household Intl (p 267) (Del. 1985)

a. Heard four days after Unocal.  Telvest had made two arguments—the sham argument and statutory argument.  151(g) took care of the statutory argument, but others were worried about the sham one.  Marty Lipton believed he could do a pill that would get around Telvest and be effective.  Finally convinces Household to try it.  Moran files a lawsuit, bringing the same sham claim.

b. The court distinguished by the Telvest preferred and Household preferred because “as to the rights, they can and will be exercised upon the happening of a triggering mechanism.”  How does that make it not sham?!  The rights are tied to the underlying P/S.  The court says the preferred has “superior dividend and liquidation rights.”  But do they?!  Issued in increments of 1/100—have exactly the same value, but maybe a penny a unit.  Not a convincing argument—but what the court held!

c. This decision provided an end-around run from SH approval of amending the charter.  It’s a unilateral resolution made by the board of director that amends the charter.  Court’s argument is utterly unconvincing.

d. But established principle that poison pills are NOT invalid under the statute.  Indeed, it’s a business judgment.

e. Whether or not the pill has to be redeemed is going to depend on whether you’re in Unocal or Revlon land.

i. In Interco, after series of bids by hostile bidder, mgmt responded—chancellor held at that point the pill had to be redeemed; mgmt couldn’t cram the financial restructuring down the SHs.

ii. In P v. Time the court went out of its way to overturn Interco and to say the court was substituting its judgment with that of the BoD.  Time seemed to validate a “just say no” defense that people had been talking about.
2. When can you “just say no?”
a. In terms of Revlon, can clearly be kept in place so long as you’re conducting an auction, but can’t be used to favor one bidder over another.  

b. Answer seems to be that under Revlon, you may be able to do it once you’re in auction mode—but once the auction is finished, may have to pull it.  But remember—Revlon is rare—only triggered by CASH deals which are increasingly rare.  Triggered if going to end up with controlling SH afterwards.  Does not get to the hard Unocal question when the board wants to stay independent.

3. Two perspectives: SH who wants to tender or Bidder who wants it redeemed:
a. SH: Never had a chance to vote on the pill.  Want the board to pull the pill or get the board to let you vote on it.

i. SH by-law amendment.  Statutory authority under DGCL § 109.
ii. As a technical matter, get a SH vote by a SH proposal in a proxy statement under § 14(a)(8); vote is mandatory, not prefatory.  Question is whether it’s a proper subject for SH action?

b. Bidder’s:

i. How do you proceed against a pill?

1. Proxy contest and tender offer

2. Replace board with people who are willing to negotiate a sale or redeem the pill

3. Redeem the pill

4. Negotiate

ii. Such moves by the bidders provoked defenses:

1. Slow hand or dead hand feature to slow the process down—continuing director redemption provision.

2. Implemented by by-law; directors given power in charter to adopt by laws.  Was the response to the proxy contest plus tender offer.  Question for courts becomes—what is the proper scope of the by-laws?  Anything in by-law can go in charter, but reverse is not the case.

4. Amalgamated Sugar Co v. NL Industries (p 279) (S.D.N.Y. 1986)

a. In response to appearance of Coniston as a potential bidder, NLI board adopted a rights plan, which declared a dividend of one right for each share, with an expiration date of ten years.

b. The way the rights are structured—once they have been triggered, the dilution w/ respect to a flip-in would occur w/ respect to subsequent acquiring persons, even white knights.  The rights plan precludes NLI from being able to negotiate w/ third persons or complete a transaction for the entire company with a white knight.  Plaintiff claims the rights are discriminatory and the court agrees that while the Business Corp Act of New Jersey permits changes of voting rights as between classes or series of stock, it does not permit an amendment under section 7-2 which would redistribute voting power within a class or series of stock.

c. Distinguish Household:  no flip-in there

i. In addition, in Household you could get around the rights plan – you could still have TO’s (escape valves)

ii. Here --  concedes that w/ the plan around --- NO one will tender till it expires

iii. Since the trigger has already been pulled – the rights are NOT redeemable by the BOD --- BOD has no discretion even if they like a particular bidder

iv.  argues – it’s  own fault for pulling the trigger.  Court says BOD made the plan that way – it’s back on them.  

v. this is a strange way of handling it bc pills only work bc they create irreparable consequences

d. Do we care about NJ?!  FLIP IN is LEGAL in DE!

5. Invacare Corp v. Healthdyne Technologies  (p 297) (N.D. Ga 1997)

a. Invacare notified Healthdyne that it was going to introduce a proposal to amend Healthdyne’s bylaws to require removal of the dead hand pill.

b. O.C.G.A. 14-2-624(c) gives the directors of Georgia corporations the sole discretion to determine the terms and conditions of a shareholders rights plan; the “bylaw proposed by Invacare would infringe upon the board’s discretion by requiring the incumbent Healthdyne board to remove the continuing director provision.”  The by law directly interferes with the board’s authority under 624(c) to set the terms and conditions of the rights agreement.

c. Such discretion is only limited by the directors’ fiduciary obligations to the corporation.

6. Intl Brotherhood of Teamsters v. Fleming (p 300) (Okla. 1999)

a. OK court held that no Oklahoma law which gives exclusive authority to a corporation’s board of directors for the formulation of shareholder rights plans and no authority which precludes SHs from proposing resolutions or bylaw amendments regarding them.  Hold that SHs may propose bylaws which restrict board implementation of SH rights plans, assuming the CoI does not provide otherwise.  (The amendment in question was submitted by Teamsters [through a proxy effort] which would require any rights plan implemented by the BoD to be put to the SHs for a majority vote).

b. What arguments can you bring against the by-law under Delaware law?

i. Limits on SH power to adopt by-laws is through 109(b)  any provision not inconsistent with DE law.  With what provisions could it be inconsistent?

1. DGCL § 151:  Saw the rights are redeemable.  Doesn’t get in the way of them issuing the rights as the court in Moran said they have the power to do, simply want to control how they redeem them, so 151(a) doesn’t seem to do it.  
2. DGCL § 141(a):  Question is, what is the scope of 141(a) and how does it intersect with 109?  This is what’s at issue here and on both sides—SH and bidder perspective—that we’re trying to get the answer to.

7. Carmody v. Toll Brothers (p 306) (Del. Ch. 1998)

a. Issue is validity of the dead hand poison pill rights plan—can’t be redeemed except by the incumbent directors who adopted the plan or their designated successors.  Toll Bros adopted pill as a general defensive measure.  Worried about tactic of proxy contest combined w/ a tender offer—not so hard to get SH to vote current board out and new board in.  In Blasius and Liquid Auto, both tried to respond by trying to pack the board.  One way to do this is by a classified board—go from 3-6 months to 15-18 months.  Problem is that Toll Bros  put in classified board b/c not in charter.  Only way could do it now would be by by-law amendment—but to do that would have to do it through a by-law adopted by SHs (according to § 141 (d)).  Not worth putting in a classified board unless it’s an entrenchment one through the CoI.  Thus, charter based classified board not available as a defense.  

b. Court says dead hand pill NOT valid.  New directors cannot redeem the pill and thus infringes their rights under 141.  Violates 141(d) without charter authority b/c creates distinction among the directors that don’t relate to their classification and violates 141(a) w/o charter authority because limits power of BoD and restricts bd’s ability to manage the company.
8. Quickturn Design Systems v. Shapiro (p 319) (Del. 1998)

a. SC opinion, not Chancery Court.  Involves a slow hand pill—limited duration and delayed redemption (6 months) and a by-law amendment that limited the ability to call a special committee.

b. Court says not valid for the same reasons given in Toll Bros.  141(a) argument for the scope of the board’s power.

c. Could put in a dead hand or slow hand pill if in their charter.  

d. Look at 141(a) “...except as may be provided in this chapter or in a CoI.”  141(a) is a default feature and you can vary from it, but then you have to have it in their CoI.

e. Difference between doing things by by-law and charter: by-law unilaterally adopted by SH or BoD, but amending the CoI requires agreement of both.  Key to poison pill is that it can be done by unilateral action of board.

f. Under the Teamsters-Fleming case, if arguing on behalf of BoD against the SH proposed bylaw would argue in interpreting 141(a) against  this attempt to prevent a bid, that vis a vis 109, same thing holds and a poison pill redemption by-law infringes on 141(a).  

g. This is narrow concept of what you can do by by-laws assuming that this interpretation of scope of bylaws is going to be the same for director bylaws or SH bylaws:

i. Narrow: harder for SH to do it—even if constrain SHs, alternative structure allows boards to adopt bylaws that infringe on SH ability to sell their shares.

ii. Broad: these sorts of bylaws are important for SHs and there are other modes of constraining excessive board by-laws.  Quickturn also offers 141(d) for limiting it that does not rest on scope of 141(a).
9. Hollinger Intl v. Black (supp 145) (Del. Ch. 2004)

a. Structure:

i. Conrad Black, top of structure—owns 65% of Ravelston, which owns 78% of Inc, which has a 30.3% equity and 72% vote over International.  Black controls International through this intermediary structure even though he only owns 15% of it.

b. Creates conflict of interest:  For every dollar paid out to him, it only costs him $0.15, and he gets 100% of the value; disproportion that can lead to inequity and why, at the end of the day, one worries about incentive structure.  Allegations that Black is taking money from the company; Intl is now in the spotlight.

c. During the June board meeting, intl board resolves to form a special committee and add two new directors.

i. Committee decides to make a deal with Black.  

ii. Black agrees to pay back money and terminate mgmt agreement and change structure—getting the bad guys out.  Once this restructuring agreement is in place the board structure changes, but not the SH structure.  Inc still owns 72% of Intl.  

iii. Have this temporary treaty with Black and the Special Committee.  Black almost immediately violates this restructuring agreement and doesn’t make his payments.

d. Worried that Black will go out and sell the Daily Telegraph (owned by Intl) to Barclays.  He can do this by selling Inc to Barclays who would then own 100% of shares of Inc.  Could then replace BoD of Intl with their own guys and then say they’re going to sell off the pieces OR that they’re going to keep them, b/c they want the Daily Telegraph.  

e. Because of this scenario, International board begins thinking of a poison pill to use against its controlling SH as a response, Black is able to push through by-laws which essentially prevent Intl’s BOD from doing anything w/o Black’s consent (80% quorum, unanimous director consent to mergers). 
f. Strine holds that the bylaw adopted by Black is consistent with 141(a), 141(c)(2) and 109, but nonetheless invalid because inequitable
g. Hollinger stands for proposition (even though chancery court) 141 and 109 still leaves open a large amount of SH actions that will constrain the BoDs.  Cleverly drafted opinion.
vi. Stock Repurchases

1. Greenmail

a. Have Unocal.  Pickens comes along, buys 9%, causes some trouble.  Says he’ll go away if buy his shares back at a premium above market.  Unocal buys the shares at a premium (will usually contain a standstill agreement)—this is greenmail.

b. Cheff v. Mathes says it is permissible.  In DE corporate law, a company can buy back its shares.

c. Greenmails has more or less disappeared---partly b/c of an excise tax that was imposed on it and another reason is b/c the poison pill works better and is cheaper.  With a PP, can disable Pickens and don’t need to come up with cash to pay his shares.  

2. AC Acquisitions Corp v. Anderson, Clayton & Co (p 332) (Del. Ch. 1986)

a. BSG formed an acquisition company and is offering $56/share for 51% of AC and is then going to do a follow up merger at $56.  Offering $56/share in cash for 100% of the company.

b. Bd thinks the price is too low and initiates a self tender for $60/share.

c. Within Unocal/Unitrin test ask 1) is there a threat? 2) response proportional to threat?  answer this by asking a) draconian? –preclusive or coercive?  If not draconian, must be within a range of reasonableness.

d. Courts strikes down a defensive measure under Unocal.

e. Is there a threat?

i. Might not be the best deal for them, but in terms of range of threats, on mild end.

f. Coercive of preclusive?

i. Coercive.  No rational SH could afford not to tender in.  Assume stock trading at $50/share.  The self tender will leave 35% of shares O/S.  This 35% will likely trade for less than the current market price b/c no value for corporate control.  

ii. If have a company with 100 shares, at $10/share, value is $1000.  If you buy back 65 shares at $15/share, costs you $975.  The remaining 35 shares will only be worth $25/35= $0.71/share.  Have paid out to the 65 SHs a great than pro rata distribution of the value of the shares.  If then confronted w/ opportunity to sell your shares in the first $65, have no economic choice but to do so, because if you don’t you’re stuck with the $0.71/share.  Similar to what happens when the PP is triggered.

g. Court says this self tender at $65/share is coercive—but more or less coercive than what happened in Unocal.  Compared to Unocal threat seems rather mild.  Could have said IF you turn down BSG’s offer, we’ll have a self tender at $65/share.  Would have addressed it without being coercive and would have been a response to the purported threat.

h. In Unocal, Pickens himself launched the coercive front end tender.  Possible that a response that is structurally coercive could be proportional to a particularly coercive threat—especially because the coercive part is open to all the non Pickens SHs.  Commented in Unocal how the SC focused on the coercive structure of Picken’s bid, but never focused on the coercive structure of the company’s response—which was every bit as coercive as the original bid.

3. Note on re Unitrin SHs Litigation (p 338) (Del. 1995)

a. Involves a targeted share repurchase and a situation where the Ct of Chancery turned it down, but then SC reverses and remands insisting the court have further proceedings where it apply Unocal/Unitrin in proper way.  Court says the self tender is not coercive.  

b. One thing to keep in mind is that there is no DE SC decision that has rejected a defensive measure under Unocal; only the Chancery Court.  Quickturn could have been such a case, but instead was decided on statutory grounds.  DE SC has been substantially more reluctant to use Unocal to strike down board action.

vii. Employee Stock Ownership Plans (ESOPs)

1. Both (stock repurchases and ESOPS) techniques to keep unwelcome offers at bay.  Both cases have same standard tension between empowering mgmt on behalf of SHs and them using that power to entrench themselves against SH interest.

2. Company borrows money from a bank to pay for the shares that come into the ESOP; used to be significant tax advantages for firms—50% of interest earned from the loans was excludable from gross income to the lenders—so the lenders were forced to share these benefits with borrowers and thus both received tax advantages.

3. DGCL § 203(a) is a prohibition on business combinations for three years following the time the SH became an interested SH, unless 1, 2, or 3.  Two is the relevant one—upon consummation of the transaction becoming an interest stockholder the SH owned 85% of the voting stock outstanding excluding for the purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding, the shares held by officer, AND employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine whether such shares will be tendered in an exchange offer.  The 85% requirement provides an incentive to get the 15% into friendly hands.  Those hands can be an ESOP or can be white squires or relational investors; can be counted on not to tender the 15% of shares, thereby blocking the 85% threshold.  

4. How is the ESOP an anti takeover device?  

a. Because it’s a tender offer, no SH vote.  Tender offer w/ ESOP directly to SH.  SH are likely to not tender because afraid will lose jobs.  But Shamrock can still acquire company without them tendering.    Shamrock might like them remaining SH b/c it makes them less likely to leave once the acquisition is complete.

i. But, suppose Shamrock may want to pledge the assets of the subsidiary.

ii. Suppose Shamrock gets 85% and ESOP has 15% of Polaroid.  If Shamrock uses its control over Polaroid to secure Shamrock’s loans the minority SH will complain that it’s a self dealing transaction in the breach of the duty of loyalty.  Needs to be refinanced and the inability to acquire 100% complicates it.

b. Not a show stopper because assume Kodak worth $200.  SR has lined up financing to acquire K at $200, which it intends to spend on buying all shares of P—if spends $200 for all the shares it owns on P, it can take the loan that it got and make the loan to Polaroid.  

i. If SR gets 85% and not 100%, only get $170 to buy 85%.  Instead of borrowing 200 from banks, only borrow $170.  Assume take control with 85%, pay the rest out in a dividend so P is highly levered.  Same $200 they would have borrowed had they acquired 100%.  Now pro rata dividend so SR gets $170 of dividend and other SH gets $30.  S takes the $170 and pays back the banks.  Is there a duty of loyalty problem here?

1. If dividend paid out pro rata, BJR  duty of loyalty problem.

c. Turns out § 203 is not so important.  Pretty minor anti-takeover statute; if you pay attention to what you are doing.  It’s not really a severe impediment to a hostile acquisition—complicates things if you don’t pay attn to it.  If paying attn, just something that needs to be worked around.
5. Shamrock Holdings v. Polaroid Corp (p 350) (Del. Ch. 1989)

a. Enact an ESOP as a defensive measure.  Start with assumption that board is acting in SHs interest.  Polaroid is concerned here because waiting for $6 billion judgment from Kodak.  Won on liability, but question of damages is still to be determined.  Value of Polaroid is dependent on what happens in this litigation.  Judgment could be anywhere from $0 $6 billion.

b. Shamrock offers to buy the company for $42/share on the assumption that it is undervalued.  The value was conditioned on rescinding the ESOP.  Shamrock would get 85% of company, ESOP 15%. Why is this bad? ESOP is a good way to motivate employees—might even like to do that too once they buy the company.  Bad b/c of anit-takeover potential.

c. Bd decides to adopt the ESOP after the offer has been made or is about to be made.

d. Plaintiffs make a Unocal claim, but it’s analyzed under entire fairness.

i. Aside from Macmillan, it’s the first entire fairness case we’ve seen.  Normally don’t see the board doing a Unocal analysis—it’s there implicitly because the lawyers do advise the board about how the court would look at the action.

ii. If not Unocal, why not BJR?  

1. Omnipresent specter of entrenchment; board not informed so  apply BJR.  Kind of like VG.  Go to entire fairness.

e. Directors win even though they were probably not informed.  

f. How do they get within § 203(a)(2)—which says that in terms of determining the number of OS shares, you  include those shares owned by directors, officers, and ESOP—if not included in OS shares, it has no effect under 203.  How make sure  excluded under 203?

i. Confidential and mirrored voting and tendering.  Employees vote allocated and pro rata portion of unallocated shares.  If director/officer is likely to vote the shares of the ESOP, 203 doesn’t do you any good.  Essentially like Polaroid itself owns the shares.  

g. This was not enough to drive the acquirers away.  

h. Next step of the defensive process was to get more shares in friendly hands.  Investment fund out there called “corporate partners”—advertised itself as management’s best friend.  Forged relationships with managers and protected them against raiders, etc.

i. Suppose Polaroid shares a series of preferred stock to corporate partners in exchange for some money.  Authorized and unissued.  Terms of P/S are:

i. 14% equity; PS votes w/ equity on one to one basis, convertible into C/S, but has some preferential liquidation rights and is sold to CP either at a discount to what CS currently trading OR is an additional dividend that is paid to CP that gives is a 10% return/year.

j. Is this valid?  (Polaroid II)

i. Makes it harder to take over company because have additional 14% block to overcome that is going to go w/ mgmt.

ii. Now have 29% + in mgmt friendly hands.  How do you attack this?

1. Preferential treatment is a sign that this is protection money and therefore using SH funds to buy entrenchment.  No agreement CP will vote with mgmt though.

k. Normal test for whether transaction meets entire fairness?

i. Market test what would an arm’s length transaction have looked like?

ii. Look at process; was there vigorous negotiation?  

1. P wants to pay as little as they can to CP to get the protection they get.  With respect to negotiating this “corrupt bargain” they have divergent interests and thus, would be arm’s length.  In other words, under the normal ways that the court would look at arm’s length, it would appear to pass muster.  With Polaroid, legitimate concern that there is a hard to value asset.  

l. No discussion of Blasius?
i. Affect of putting shares in ESOP could be understood as interfering with SH franchise.  Blasius decided in 1988, so recent decision.  Secondly, there was no vote here.  Had this been done differently, namely that the question has to do w/ a proxy fight and the establishment of an ESOP in a proxy fight then it would be something w/ Blasius.

viii. Confidentiality, Standstill Agreements, and White Squires

1.  Ivanhoe Partners v. Newmont Mining Corp (p 371) (Del. 1987).

a. Three players:

i. Consolidated (Goldfield’s)

ii. Newmont

iii. Ivanhoe (Pickens)

b. Consolidated and Newmont both gold mining companies.  

i. Came to a standstill agreement; contract b/t one party and another in which contractually, they promise not to acquire additional shares.

c. Now comes T Boone Pickens.  Provision in standstill that if 3rd party acquires 9.9% then it is waived.  The agreement said  acquire now, but if “in play” (i.e. 9.9%) then they want to be able to compete too.  Pickens is obviously seeking to trigger this; no reason for him to buy more than 10% because subject to 16(b)—short swing trading profits.  Goes to 9.95%.  Pickens just wants to put Newmont in play.

d. Everyone knows what Pickens game is so Newmont liquidates its non-gold assets and declare a dividend that they give to Goldfields so Goldfield can buy up a significant portion through a “street swap” go out into the marketplace; shares been trading rapidly—domain of merger arbitrage.  If think Newmont will be sold, want to go in and buy up shares of Newmont.  On other hand, if but up shares thinking it’s going to go into play and then become convinced that it won’t, you want to get rid of Newmont shares.

e. Revlon not triggered because not selling.  Making business decisions about assets—“business as usual..”  Newmont no longer has a control SH—49.9% in hands of Goldfields and 51.1% in hands of newmont.  No one can ever acquire Newmont w/o its permission; SH of Newmont will never have an opportunity to get a control premium, but nonetheless the court distinguishes them.  Newmont  trigger Revlon, QVC does.

b. Disclosure Issues in Takeover Defenses

i. Disclosure in Proxy and Info Statements: Anti Takeover or Similar Proposals

1. Problem, page 386.  As a takeover defense, the board you represent wants to amend the charter for a staggered board and poison pill.  They don’t want to disclose the rights plan at this time, worried that disclosing multiple provisions will discourage institutional investors.  

a. Safest thing to do in terms of disclosure is to disclose everything.  Maybe one could argue that the staggered board provision is the only material one b/c every company has a virtual poison pill—but maybe staggered board is in charter too.  Maybe you need to disclose that you’re currently contemplating it.  Might be more important for the non-institutional investors.  

ii. ODS Technologies v. Marshall (supp 173) (Del. Ch. 2003)

1. Court approved TVG’s request for an injunction against Youbet.com from proceeding in its annual meeting pending correction of disclosures in connection with the proxy statement filed by Youbet in advance of the Annual Meeting.

2. The board of Youbet enacted a staggered board specifically designed as a defensive measure against TVG, but in Youbet’s proxy statement describing the board they said the provision is “designed to assure continuity and stability.”  

3. Court found that omitting to mention TVG and how its rights were affected cross the line from omitting material information to becoming affirmatively misleading.  Reading the proxy statements would leave a reasonable shareholder with the impression that TVG was not a factor—which is the opposite of the truth; creates the negative inference that the Bd was unaware that TVG might be discouraged from attempting to acquire control of the company.
c. Appraisal Rights of Dissenting SHs

i. Statutory Constraints on Valuation

ii. When is appraisal available?  Weird structure of DGCL § 262(b) of first providing an appraisal right and second revoking the right in several situations.  Weirdest part was 262(b)(2), which said that despite the revocations of 262(b), there were four categories that re-provided it.

1. You get appraisal if you accept cash in a cash-out merger

a. Applies to a parent sub merger (which is why statute was initially enacted opportunity to freeze out minorities of sub at cash raises potential for opportunistic behavior—when it was securities, still remained part of the corporation), but also applies to any other 251 merger of a publicly traded company.

2. Also, under 262(b)(3) if it’s a 253 merger you get appraisal regardless of what the consideration is.

3. 262(b)(1) gives you the market out exception—if you don’t like the merger, then sell your shares.  

4. Another big question is appraisal of what?

a. § 262(a) gives you the basic statement that any stockholder who holds shares on the proper date who continuously holds such shares (both a contemporaneous and continuous ownership requirement) and hasn’t voted in favor of the merger shall be entitled to an appraisal by the court of chancery of “the fair value of his shares of stock.”  Not very enlightening.

b. § 262(h) is second piece of statutory standard.  After determining who’s entitled, the court shall appraise the shares, determining their fair value exclusive of “any element of value arising from the accomplishment or expectation of the merger or consolidation.”  In determining the fair value, the court shall take into account “all relevant factors.”

iii. Cede & Co v. Technicolor (p 398) (Del. 1996)

1. Perelman tries to take over Technicolor because he thinks its CEO has a bad plan.  Perelman uses two steps—step one is a tender offer for $23/share; step two is a cash-out merger also for $23.  Gets enough for control in his TO.  P now owns more than 50% of Technicolor.

2. Cinerama, a large SH of Technicolor, seeks appraisal for the cash-out merger.  Technicolor falls within the market out, but § 262(b)(2) restores the appraisal right b/c it’s cash.  

3. DE Chancery Court dismissed the case.  Why?  One argument is that under 262(h) the value here is coming from the merger plan, and the statute excludes that value.  The second is that it’s all one transaction, at arm’s length, and can’t be broken up.

4. NOTE on why front end loaded two tier tender offers may be a good thing:

a. Have Technicolor worth $17/share run by Kammerman, but under Perelman worth $35/share.  As a rational SH, if you believe worth more in P’s hands—won’t tender at $23.  Now problem is that nobody tenders, so P never gets control and stock never reaches $35.  Classic collective action problem.  

b. One way to deal with it is to take away the opportunity to stick around, which DE law does through the squeeze out merger.  Still a question of at what price is the squeeze out permitted at.  If permitted at $35/share, then you’ve just reinstated the same collective action problem, providing an incentive to stick around and be squeezed out, in which case P never gets control.  This is why appraisal is critical to solving this collective action problem and in moving corporate assets from bad managers to good managers.

c. Chancery Court’s arg for why appraisal is inappropriate here too.  To include all of P’s plans in the appraisal calculation is to give the dissenters the value of P’s additions and will take away the benefit of solving the collective action problem.

5. SC overrules this using the language of Weinberger.  Critical language: “only the speculative elements of the value that may arise from the ‘accomplishment or expectation’ of the merger are excluded.  We take this to be a very narrow exception to the appraisal process...”

6. Court says the plans Perelman has for Technicolor go into the valuation, even though they haven’t been implemented yet.  They value the stock not when Perelman first got control ($17), but now, taking account Perelman’s plans.

7. Other valuation options?

a. Third party sale—(going to be close to liquidation value) some argue that b/c of the opportunistic potential between a parent and a sub the third party sale is the appropriate valuation.   Can’t force the parent to sell to a third party, but if the parent is going to buy out the sub, that’s what it should be for.  DE has never accepted this, but intuition is important.

b. Concept of “minority discount.”

i. Minority discount and control premium often look like the inverse of one another.

ii. Company with 100% SH who decides to sell 10% to the public in an IPO, how much will SHs be willing to pay for the 10%?  Assume firm has a value of Ve.  Will investors be willing to pay Ve/100 to buy those 10% shares?  It depends.

1. Some situations where they’ll pay more!   Google.

2. On the other hand, if you have an acquirer who is known for taking full advantage of their position and making non pro rata distributions to themselves, then you know that if you buy into it you’re exposing yourself to a level of self dealing by the control SH.  Therefore, might only pay 5% of pro rata value.

iii. Also have the question of what the company would be worth if it was owned by someone 100%.  Owner-manager std eliminates two sorts of costs—agency costs and non-legally prohibited agency costs.  Also eliminate the non pro rata distributions.

iv. Rapid American Corp v. Harris (p 408) (Del. 1992)

1. According to Rock, as incoherent of an opinion we’ll read all semester.

2. What was the issue the plaintiffs had?

a. Whether it makes sense to give the pro rata distribution of the firm or not.  Argument going the other way is that when you buy into a control corporation you usually buy in at a discount. 

b. Put this together and the question is what was the value of what was taken away from you?  

c. And then get over compensated if based on valuation of company as a whole—BUT this argument has never been accepted in Delaware.  Two reasons 

i. Deterrent function and

ii. Concern for SHs who have been SHs in a widely dispersed company who then find themselves against their will in a control company b/c someone buys it up and freezes them out.

3. P’s argument is that they should have added a control premium.  The problem is that in valuing “B,” the court did not apply a control premium and b/c did not apply a control premium into B it incorporated the minority discount into the subsidiaries of Rapid and therefore incorporated a minority discount into the value of Rapid.  

a. Remember B, by hypothesis, is a dispersed ownership company with widely held shares.  

b. P is saying that the valuation technique only compared its subsidiaries with comparable shares of companies trading in the market—whose values are discounted and do not reflect a control premium.

4. Court is saying that WMA’s valuation technique arrived at comparable values that discounted the control premium.

5. First, what is the court claiming? 

a. Like Harris, claiming that the value of B as measured by the market price of the B shares is less than the value of B.  

b. Claim is that Ve is > number of shares x market price.  Generally called the market capitalization.  Saying that all companies out there presumptively, if you’re looking at the market cap, is below the value of the company.  That is an extraordinary claim.  Saying you can buy any company at its current market price and make a profit.  Where does it get this from?

6. See Pearlman was willing to pay $6/share to buy Technicolor. Why was this?  He thought that if HE could configure it, it would be worth more than $23/share—it was not a statement about what he thought Technicolor was currently worth.  This notion is entirely independent of the market cap.  It takes the market cap as the accurate valuation of the company.  It then makes the jump that the control premium needs to be added back in to get the valuation of the firm in the existing configuration.  

7. What finance academics will tell you, is that if you’re interested in the valuation of the company as the company currently exists it is the market price of the shares x the value of the shares.  No reason to think that it is systematically too low.

a. Argument that when you do the comparable company transactions it should be EBITA + $10m.  That would be a rational, sensible way of dealing with the misbehavior that does not require you to adopt views of finance that provoke comments like the “judges here are idiots.” (such as at a conference where Rock was at)

b. If you want to get Vom, maybe you want to give it not as adding a control premium to the comparable companies—even if trying to give Vom, not the way to do it.  Sort of a random addition to do substantial justice in this case.  Even there, it’s hard to see the $51/share that is “giving substantial justice.”  This case is one of those cases where you have a genuine bad actor that the courts are clearly looking to punish, but in doing so, it introduces all this nonsense into the appraisal methodology.  

8. Go back now to a cash merger b/t McAndrews and Forbes and Technicolor.  Now when you do the comparable company analysis—you go and have companies A, B, & C as the comparables.  As taking this view, what do you do?

a. Look at market view then add 30%.  Makes no sense at all and leads you to do injustice when you apply it more widely.  

9. Given how this discount has been attacked, suspect chancery court will shy away from it.  One of the peculiar mistakes that crept into the analysis.

d. Takeouts and Fairness

i. Two ways in which SHs are protected from selling out at too low a price:

1. Variety of contractual mechanisms—shark repellant amendments; poison pill  contractual in that sense, but when used by well incentivized managers also protects SHs.

2. Appraisal

3. Are these two sufficient or does the law need a third one?

a. We are now looking at equitable measures the SC uses to protect SHs from being mistreated.

ii. Singer v. Magnavox (p 418) (Del. 1977)

1. Can’t freeze out the minority solely for the purpose of freezing out the minority.  If you do, it’s an abuse of the corporate process.  How good a rule is this?  Why did it only last two years?

a. You just invent a business purpose—but whose business purpose?  Parent’s or sub’s?

i. If parent’s it’s easy to invent a business purpose b/c partially owned subs create problems.  Court’s said it’s a valid business purpose if the parent thinks it’s a good investment.

ii. Better way to protect SHs?  Brings us to Weinberger.
iii. Weinberger v. UOP (p 424) (Del. 1983)

1. One of the most important cases in corporations!!!

2. Signal owns 50.5% of UOP.  Signal mainly represents the board of UOP.  Arledge and Chitea are employees of Signal, but also sit on the board of UOP.  

a. A&C use UOP information to produce a report for Signal.  Report says that the value of UOP shares to Signal is a good investment up to $24/share.  

b. Signal ends up paying $21/share to UOP.  Fight is over $3/share.

3. Plaintiffs ultimately win a breach of fiduciary duty claim in the SC.  

4. Court held that the business purpose requirement of these cases is no longer the law of DE.  Instead, the court found that the vote was not informed and remanded to test the fairness (fairness of process and fairness of price) creates this quasi-appraisal proceeding.; in the process, the court enacted a burden-shifting test.

a. Where corporate action has been approved by an informed vote of a majority of the minority SHs, the burden entirely shifts to the plaintiff to show that the transaction was unfair to the minority.

b. If vote of SHs not informed, then burden never shifts, but remains with corporation to show transaction entirely fair.

c. Focuses on the role of the special committee and expands valuation.

5. In the opinion, why doesn’t the court mention 144—the section about self dealing transactions?  What aspect of the transaction would not be fully protected by 144?

a. Question is not whether they satisfied the statute; essentially they did—but acting as a true equitable court.  Fact that something is permitted under the statute does not mean that it is equitable or valid.

6. What kind of duties does the CS have as a CS?  What duties to employees have to sit on the subsidiary board?  How could Signal have prepared its study of the price it was willing to pay for UOP without disclosing it under Weinberger?

7. Suppose A & C on board of UOP, and they are present when the employee of Signal presents the report.  They turn to general counsel and ask if they have an obligation to disclose it to UOP?

a. Report would be material to UOP and its SHs.  Can Arlidge know this fact of its importance to UOP and not tell anyone about it?  

i. “There is no dilution of this obligation where one holds dual or multiple directorships, as in a parent subsidiary context...owe the same duty of good mgmt to both corporations and in the absence of an independent negotiating structure or the director’s total abstention from any participating in the matter, this duty is to be exercised in light of what is best for both companies...”

ii. Seems like court is saying they should excuse themselves from participation at both levels—no way they can fulfill a duty that requires them to do what’s best for both corps if there is a conflict of interest.

8. Now suppose, A&C have stepped away and acknowledged their conflict.  Employee reports to Signal where there are no directors of signal who are directors of UOP.  Is there an obligation to disclose the report?  Gets to question of whether the duty is a duty of a controlling SH or a duty of conflicted directors as with A&C.

a. Set up independent negotiating structures.  Duties fall on directors, not on the SHs.

9. This case tells us that entire fairness has two pieces:

a. Fairness of process

b. Fairness of price

10. On remand, Chancellor agrees that $21/share is a fair price.  Gives recessionary damages—substitute for punitive damages.  Can’t undo the merger.

iv. Rosenblatt v. Getty (p 438) (Del. 1985)

1. Getty lawyers know they’re going to be sued no matter what happens so move forward with merger knowing they’ll be under sharp scrutiny.

2. Getty owned 89.73% of Mission and 7.4% of Skelly.  Mission owned 72.6% of Skelly.

3. Merger between Skelly and Mission.  

a. SH of Skelly getting stock, so no appraisal.

b. Independent directors that are looking over the SH of Skelly.

4. Report saying that earnings may decrease post merger.  Was there an obligation to disclose this?

a. Ct says majority SH must not always disclose its top bid to minority.  Distinguishes from Weinberger where directors are on two sides of the transaction.

b. But, the definiteness with which they say that is inconsistent w/ what they say, but it is still useful in going forward.

5. The ct doesn’t talk about § 144, but would there be an obligation to disclose the report under it?

a. Ct does say that the sole basis for its conclusion in Weinberger was the fact there were directors on both sides of the transaction.

b. As a matter of DE law, there is no duty on Signal or Getty as control SH to disclose its reservation price—but Rock still poses it under 144.

c. Fit b/t Weinberger and § 144 is not an easy one also this vote of a majority of minority.  § 144(a)(2) talks about disclosure and approval by a vote of the SH.  It does not say the disinterested SHs.  A literal reading of 144 would allow Getty to vote on it.

v. Orman v. Cullman (supp 191) (Del. Ch. 2002)

1. When are these duties in Weinberger triggered?  When is there a duty of entire fairness?

a. Easy example:  parent company (A) which owns 80% of B Corp.  A sells 20% to Charlie.  A has 60%, C has 20% and the Public owns 20% of B Corp.  In this sale do any specil duties fall on A?  Seems perfectly simple—CS before and after, just wants to sell some of her shares.  

2. Here, company is General Cigar—dual class capital structure.

a. Another case where the dual class cap structure attracts a disproportionate share of judicial scrutiny because they separate the economic interest from control.

b. Cullman starts out with 67% of the votes and the pubic has the remaining votes (happened this way b/c he went public as a dual class co.)

3. Transaction at issue:

a. Cullman sells some of his own shares to Swedish Match.

b. Next step was to freeze out the public so that Cullman has more than 50% of votes afterwards and SM is now in there in place of the public SHs.  

c. Public SHs got $15.25 and Cullman got $15.  Cullman wants the money and SM wants the company and thinks Cullmans are running it well.  

4. Court says this does not trigger entire fairness scrutiny.  Why is the fact that this is an arm’s length negotiation going to protect the public SHs of general cigar?  Ct seems to think that b/c he was negotiating in his best interests he was also negotiating in the SHs best interests, but Cullman not giving up control.  Cullman may receive all sorts of benefits by retaining control.

a. If Cullman was standing on both sides of the transaction would get entire fairness, but this is not quite the case; not on both sides.  Transaction with SM is an independent third party.  

b. How else could you get entire fairness?

i. Show that a majority of directors are interested, then BJR  apply and entire fairness applies.

vi. LNR Property SHs Litigation (supp 210) (Del. Ch. 2004)

1. Intermediate case where control is being sold to Cerberus and the controlling SH is taking a minority position in the new company.  

2. Goes to question of under what circumstances is the role of the special committee with a controlling SH adequate.  

a. Rosenblatt is the gold standard and Orman (lack of independence of directors) and LNR (mixed incentives of controller) don’t satisfy it.

b. Ask if Weinberger is satisfied by asking if it’s closer to Rosenblatt or these other cases.
3. Possible claims here are: 

a. Duty of loyalty?  Miller selling the company at a low price in exchange for getting 20% of the new company

b. Revlon?   Change of control, LNR being sold for cash.  Difficult Revlon claim b/c have control SH to begin with; Revlon doesn’t apply b/c if Miller  agree it can’t be sold.

c. How does this case compare to Orman v. Cullman?

i. In Orman, Cullman had incentives to get a maximal price for the shares he sold b/c he was staying in control.  Nevertheless, the court had enough concerns after looking at the independence of the directors to say that the directors weren’t independent enough to justify dismissing the case.

d. Here, the fact that it’s an arms length negotiation does not necessary protect the public SHs—because have a joint interest in the public SHs getting as little as possible.  Anything they can avoid paying to the public SHs they can split themselves—no reason to trust process or incentives so entire fairness applies.

vii. Rabkin v. Philip Hunt Chemical Corp (p 449) (D.el. 1985)

1. First post-Weinberger case that constituted a freeze out.  Minority SHs sue.  

2. Remember, Weinberger said that quasi-appraisal will apply “only to this case, any case now pending, any case challenging a cash-out merger before 1983...”  This case doesn’t fall into any of these categories.

3. Chancellor Burger said appraisal, but then the DE SC said she interpreted Weinberger too narrowly.    Other language in Weinberger about how it’s not meant to limit traditional remedies where appraisal might not be adequate—where fraud, misrepresentation, self-dealing, deliberate waste of corporate assets, or gross overreaching are involved—but are any of those present here?

a. Some self dealing always exists in a parent/sub freezeout, but if that’s enough quasi-appraisal is always appropriate and the limiting language is meaningless.

4. Plaintiffs prefer quasi appraisal:

a. In appraisal, have to perfect your appraisal rights, not vote in favor, and you don’t get your money until the end.  No class actions in appraisal and have to litigate it yourself.

b. Quasi-appraisal gives you your money for the shares, and then you might get some more for your fiduciary duty claim, plus you can bring it as a class action and get help with litigation costs.

c. With appraisal, you could technically lose money.  If offer was at $25 and after appraisal, court says $20 is right amount.

5. Don’t have to choose between bringing a Weinberger proceeding or a § 262 statutory proceeding.   SC said you can bring both. (What P did in Emerging Communications)

6. Contrary to what Weinberger may say, appraisal is not the exclusive remedy.  As long as you can allege unfairness, don’t have to elect your remedy and may receive Weinberger quasi-appraisal.  (But how does this affect class actions, etc if you can bring both?).

viii. Kahn v. Lynch Communication Systems (p 458) (Del. 1994)

1. In a parent/sub merger, the standard is always entire fairness because of this risk of throwing your weight around, and the burden can shift from the defendant to the plaintiff if you adopt an independent and effective negotiating structure, but it’s still entire fairness even if have a special committee and put it up to a majority vote of the minority SH.  

2. Have Alcatel who was controlling SH of Lynch Comm.  Owns 43% of Lynch and nominates 5 of the 11 directors.  Alcatel attempts to acquire the equity interest in Lynch—but not through a TO.  Special committee tries to up their bid from $14 and eventually gets them to $15.50.  Looks like a straight forward duty of loyalty problem. If Alcatel would have rejected the $15.50 Alcatel could have just done a TO at $14.  No entire fairness duties with a TO (bracketing Pure Resources for the moment).  Second, Lynch could put in a poison pill that’s triggered if anyone goes over 40%, but it might not be effective because Alacatel could replace the directors and redeem the pill—but if they redeem the pill could argue breach of fiduciary duty.  Or, could negotiate a 251 w/ Alcatel, but that would also be reviewed under entire fairness.  

3. At best, the special committee could have held out and gotten entire fairness review of the merger price w/ the burden on Alcatel to est that the price was fair.  Instead, negotiated merger price from $14 to $15.50. 

a. Remember, 144 does not apply here because it deals with contracts between a corporation and one of its officers or directors, not one of its controlling SHs.
4. If the standard is always going to be entire fairness and all you get is burden shifting, then why adopt these independent negotiating structures?!
ix. In Re Western National SHs Litigation (Del. Ch. 2000)—when does entire fairness apply?

1. Difference b/t Kahn and WN?  Kahn owned 43% of Lynch and American General owns 46% of Western.  AG wants to buy the rest.  Special committee appointed, reach agreement, SH approve it.  

2. Court reviews it using the BUSINESS JUDGMENT RULE!  

3. In neither case does the parent own more than 50% of the minority; if you’re below 50% it’s a factual matter whether you are a dominating or controlling SH.  

4. Western tells us in the absence of majority stock ownership, P must demonstrate that the SH held a dominate position and actually controlled SHs conduct.  Thus, if you’re above 50% you’re a controlling SH; if you’re below 50%, it all depends.

5. Distinction does not seem to be the capacity to dominate, because 43% and 46% seem to give the same capacity—but by the actual attempts to dominate.

a. But doesn’t the fact that Kahn directors had to go to such lengths to have their way prove that they did NOT have this kind of domination?!

6. Take away:  if counseling control SH have two scenarios.  One, act like a jerk and get hammered by entire fairness or be nice and get business judgment rule scrutiny.

x. Emerging Communications (supp 216) (Del. Ch. 2004)

1. Probably the most controversial case of 2004.  

2. ECM is a Virgin Islands telephone company.  Structure:

a. Prosser 100% of ICC, ICC 100% of Innovative, Innovative 52% of ECM, ECM 100% of Vitelco.

b. Prosser wants to buy ECM through Innovative with a cash out merger to freeze out the minority.

3. A special committee oversaw the transaction and did manage to get the price up, but the court didn’t think it was a good process.  The SC didn’t have the info it needed.  Court held employee of Prosser liable:

a. Ct said that he possessed specialized financial expertise and conceded that $10.25 was the low end of any kind of valuation and expressed could get up to $20/share.  Upon this knowledge it was incumbent that he reject the price and go on record as voting against the transaction at the $10.25 merger price.  

i. This is the part of the opinion that is so controversial—that a director by virtue of having special expertise takes on more risk.

ii. Other directors get off by § 144(e)—member of BoD or any committee may rely... on representations... who they have a reason to rely on their competence.

iii. Justice Vesey went out of his way to calm the waters to say that the court didn’t mean that the more expertise you have the more liability you face.  If this goes to SC, and if there is liability, will find it on very narrow grounds.

4. If advising Prosser and know that he’s only willing to go up to $10.25, don’t want him to put that bid on the table from the start.  Need to give him room to go up so it looks like the special committee is bargaining and that it’s an arms length negotiation.

5. Prosser is hostage to the performance of the special committee—unusual and odd feature.  If working right, Prosser is not controlling the special committee, but it’s only if the SC performs well that Prosser gets the benefit of the shift of the burden.—but if the CSR intervenes to make sure that the special committee has really good people on it, then it’s a sign of the SC having been improperly influenced by the controlling SH!

6. When have 52% SH, can’t seek competing offers b/c CS can vote its own shares any way it wishes.  No fiduciary duty to vote your shares in a way that is best for the minority.  Look at DGCL § 253.  Prosser is a fiduciary, but no duty to vote in minority’s interests.

7. Is there more the SC should do in a situation like this?

a. Does the SC have the power to adopt a poison pill against the parent?   Does it have the duty to do so?

i. Have the power (Hollinger), but have no cases that say there is a duty.  Rock thinks that’d be a bad place to end up.

ii. But plenty of case law that would support the proposition that in some circumstances the SC has a duty to protect the non-controlling SH.

8. These cases show us that it’s hard for a control SH to do a cash out merger.  Alternative route?:

a. Step 1: Tender offer for 40% at $10.28 share

i. No entire fairness duty of non-coercive TO (Siliconix, Solomon v. Pathe)

b. Step 2:  § 253 short form merger at $10.28 share.

i. No entire fairness duty in 253 merger (Glassman).

c. Don’t have the hook of bd conduct as a basis for liability.  Open up this potential of an end run around this carefully contstructed structure to control parent/subsidiary structures.  Question of whether DE will stand for this end run.

d. Strine gives us his take in Pure Resources.  In a non-coercive TO, no duty of EF.  When coercive, SHs get the same protections as under Weinberger.  If you define non-coercive as meaning special committee and majority of minority vote then you can’t make it identical, but can come close.  Strine attempts to bridge this gap because otherwise, Weinberger ceases to matter because everyone will restructure in this other way.

III. The Williams Act

a. Federal Disclosure Regulation (p 817)

i. Proxy rules

ii. Tender offers

1. Remember TO rules only apply to TOs; gives business planners the option to plan around them—can structure a transaction as a merger to avoid regulation.

b. Overview of WA (p 821)

i. Prior to the WA saw a lot of “Saturday night specials”—different prices for TOs, no disclosure about the bidder.  Bidders would slowly then quickly buy shares; would also have others buy for them.

ii. Effect of TO regulation:

1. Price is $30/share.  In bidder’s hands worth $40/share.  Assuming bidder is better at managing than target, what is the effect of this regulation on the allocation of those gains?

a. Going to be allocated somehow—with no regulation price ends up being $34/share.  With regulation, shift gains from the bidder to the target SHs.  This is potentially problematic.

b. Bidder needs to identify targets and to do so is expensive.  To the extent gains stay with target the incentives to takeover go down.   On the other hand, incentives of targets to identify bidders and put themselves on the market goes up.  

c. Buyers’ Obligations

i. Schedule 13D Filings

1. Reports by persons acquiring (directly or indirectly the beneficial owner) of more than 5% of classes of equity securities that are registered pursuant to section 12 within 10 days after such acquisition.

2. § 13(d)(1) any person who, after acquiring the beneficial ownership of any class of equity security registered with the SEC is the beneficial owner of more than 5% of that class, shall file a disclosure document with the SEC within 10 days after such acquisition, and deliver a copy to the issuer.

3. Why does it matter to SHs who the bidding group is?

a. Might tender or not depending on who would own the company post TO.  Or, banks might not finance bid if it’s a bid by Conrad Black.  

b. 13(d)(1)(b)—disclose source and amount of funds.  Relates to possibility that financing will go through.  If it doesn’t go through, worse off because may be a competing bid out there—knowing which is more likely to close will be a material fact in deciding whether to whom to tender.  Might want to know how leveraged an acquisition it’s going to be; may affect new group’s business plans.  

4. Schedule 13D  have to file: criminal convictions, source of funds, purpose of transaction, interest in securities of issuer (how much you have), contracts, arrangements, understandings/relationships with the issuer.

5. Exception to disclosure:  13(g)—less burdensome disclosure requirements

a. Don’t acquire shares with purpose to change control of issuer

b. Have to certify for investment purposes and not for control purposes

c. Broker/dealers, banks, insurance companies, and investment companies, mutual funds—if hold for investment only may file 13(g) in lieu of 13D.

d. Lets mutual funds not have to disclose all their investments to the general public—if had to disclose all the investment percentages in the Magellan fund then couldn’t charge as high a fee.

6. Person

a. Can’t have others buy for you such that investors don’t know that it is you that is buying because §13(d)(3) says:
i. “When two or more persons act as a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate, or other group for the purpose of acquiring, holding, or disposing of securities of an issuer, such syndicate or group shall be deemed a ‘person’ for the purposes of this subsection.
b. Any parking or warehousing arrangement has to be disclosed.  If you have some other buyer out there buying for you there is an obligation under 13(d)(1) to disclose those relationships/agreements.  

i. If buying for their own account, but part of a group under 13(d)(3) you count as a single person and takes you back to the disclosure obligation.  

7. Group Formation

8. What is “Beneficial Ownership?”

a. Voting power or Investment power—power to dispose or direct disposition of securities

b. If person has a right to acquire such beneficial ownership of securities within 60 days then the option holder is a BO.

9. 5% of a Class of Equity

a. Can acquire slowly and quietly, but only up to 5%

b. Doesn’t apply to acquisition of bond securities

c. Equity security includes: convertible securities or warrants, rights, puts, calls, straddles.

d. What happens when an investor transfers the economic risks of ownership?  Enters into 9% positions where depart with economic risk.  Do these need to be disclosed?  Not arrangements among a group.  Unclear if these transactions would be caught with any provisions.

10. Disclosure Obligations

11. Hypo: two hedge funds Pirate Capital—4% of Wendy’s and Third Point—4% as well.  PC and TP agree to meet, talk about Wendy’s as being a problem company—undervalued and mismanaged; at meeting agree to jointly seek a change of control of Wendy’s.  Obligation to disclose anything?

a. (3) when two or more persons act as a partnership, LP, syndicate, or other group...such syndicate shall be deemed a person for the purposes of this subsection.  Under 13D is there an obligation for PC and TP to file a 13D?

12. GAF Corp v. Milstein (p 827)
a. Family members each owned less than 5%, collectively above 5%.  owned preferred shares—treated as equity because votes equally with common stock and convertible to CS.

b. Court held that they formed a group and had to disclose their holdings.

c. When did this disclosure obligation occur?  When they bought the GAF shares of CS?  If so, then P and TP are ok b/c they haven’t bought any shares.  NO, it’s triggered when they jointly seek a change of control.
d. What if, instead—two investors who jointly own more than 5% want to shake things up a little—think the company isn’t performing well and want to put a different director on the board.  Say let’s vote together.  Group?

i. When two or more persons act as a P, LP, syndicate or other group for purposes of acquiring, holding, or disposing of securities of an issuer.  Doesn’t look like a 13D group.  

ii. It’s not the statute that imposes the obligation for them to file here, it’s Rule 13D-5 holding, acquiring, disposing, or voting of securities of the issuer... group formed thereby shall be deemed to have acquired beneficial ownership.  

e. Any obligations under proxy rules?

i. Is PC saying to TP: “let’s get together to add a director to the board” a solicitation?

1. Arguably this is captured under 14a-1.

2. Look to exemptions under 14a-2 easiest one here is 14a-(2)(b)(2)—any solicitation made on behalf of registrant when total person solicited is not more than 10.

3. 14B satisfied, 13D attaches.

13. Problem, page 843.  Someone inadvertently triggers the poison pill, not interested in acquiring company and doesn’t want to be diluted down.  Enter into standstill agreement and agreement to amend trigger so this doesn’t happen.  13D problem?

a. “When two or more persons...”—issuer and SH—“agree to act together for purposes of voting equity securities of the issuer.”  

i. Seems to apply on its terms.  What if agreed not to vote?  But not voting is probably wrapped up in voting.  Also, may complicate quorum requirements.  Another option is to adopt mirrored voting so the board doesn’t have the power to affect the vote, and they’ll be neutralized by requiring SHs to vote in proportion.  

14. Problem, page 846.  Can your client tell the broker to purchase target shaers on the “usual put and call basis” without filing a Schedule 13D once the broker acquires 5% of the OS shares?

a. No, 13D-3(d)(1)(i)(a): broker would be a beneficial owner.

b. What if there was no written agreement b/t broker and client for the puts and calls?  Just an “understanding” that the client may call at any time at purchase price plus interest?

i. Could argue that the client by virtue of this understanding has the right to acquire such beneficial ownership.  

c. 13D group now?

i. 13D-5?  Could argue that the broker and customer are beneficial owners.  Right now, if they need to be voted the broker will vote them so looks like a 13D group.

15. Can your client simply suggest to the broker that the purchase of target stock in large amounts would be a very good short-term investment?

a. Need to be careful about 10b-5 insider trading liability

b. 14e-3?  Taken steps or is going to take steps to begin a tender offer.  Acquiring > 5% in and of itself does not mean there’s going to be a TO; depends on if a “substantial step” to the commencement of a TO.  If no tender offer is anticipated, it’s not in the scope of 14e-3. 

c. What if he IS considering a TO and suggests to his broker that it’s’ a good time to buy shares.  Violation of 14e-3?

i. 14e-3: if taken substantial step, it shall be fraudulent or manipulative for any person in possession of such material info relating to the TO (which is non-public) and knows has been acquired directly or indirectly from the offering person... to purchase or sell or cause to purchase or sell...unless such info and source is publicly disclosed.

ii. Saved by 14e-3(c)?  not violations—purchases by a broker or another agent on behalf of offering person.

iii. Either caught by 13D or 14e-3 if not caught under 13D because no “understanding”—not a group; might be caught by 14e-3.  Would rather be in violation of 13D because 14e-3 is an antifraud provision.

iv. Best of both worlds if just trying to shake things up and not commencing a TO—not caught by either.  

d. 10b-5:

i. If client gives info to broker, 10b-5 problem?

1. Doesn’t seem to be a breach of an existing duty to issuer; issuer is target and client gives info to broker.  Broker has no fiduciary relationship to target’s SHs.  Under classical theory, no problem.

2. Economic risk is on client by virtue of the put/call arrangement; client also becomes the beneficial owner of the shares.

3. Misappropriation doctrine:  

a. O’Hagan:  bidder who had law firm and OH was a partner in the firm, but was a stranger to SH of target.

b. Court held that OH, by virtue of misappropriating info belonging to bidder gives rise to a duty to disclose or abstain.  

c. In the above hypo, no misappropriation from client.

ii. Three types of cases that come up under 10b-5:

1. Insider trading line

2. Issuer misrepresentation or omission (when duty to disclose)

3. Face to face securities transaction when someone behaves badly.

e. Beginning a Tender Offer and Schedule 14D-1 Filings

i. § 14(d)(1) makes it unlawful for any person to make a tender offer for, or request an invitation to tender of any class...if after consummation thereof, such person would directly or indirectly be the beneficial owner of such class

1. Title is inaccurate—key is your tendering FOR 5% because any tender offer would take you above 5%.  
ii. Substantive Provisions: 14(d)(5)
1. Can be withdrawn from depositor up to 7 days (may be a new bidder offering a higher price)

2. Securities must be taken up pro rata; designed to reduce pressure on SHs to tender.  

3. SHs tendering will receive any increase in TO amount pro rata; benefit of best price.

4. Minimum time period for a tender offer to stay open. 

5. 14(d)-10—tender offer has to be open to all security holders

a.  Reversing Unocal; In Unocal in response to the two tier tender offer, the company made its own defensive self tender.  Open to all security holders so now has to be open to Pickens as well.

6. Consideration paid must be the highest paid to any security holder during such tender offer.  

a. Prevents SHs from being stampeded.

b. Question of whether additional payments to executives during a TO could be considered additional consideration.  New SEC release says it won’t; but still have to make sure it’s structured properly.  

7. If change the TO—increase/decrease—get a new 10 days have to keep open.

iii. Reg 14E—covers anti fraud rules

1. Williams Act version of 10b-5.

2. 14e-4 prohibits borrowing shares in the market to ensure all your shares are picked up pro rata

3. 14e-5 prohibits buying in the market at the same time you’re pursing your tender offer.

4. 14e-8 designed to prevent obvious form of misbehavior, namely securities manipulation and the manipulation of their prices.

iv. Chiarella
1. Tender offer docs that went to printer to be printed.  Chiarella was an employee of the printer.  Chiarella deciphers the identity of the target and buys its shares.

2. SEC made misappropriation argument and lost to the Supreme Court.  

3. SEC’s immediate response was to enact 14e-3, which captures or gets rid of the Chiarellas of the world.  It’s deceptive or fraudulent for any person who has info that he knows is non-public who has been acquired directly or indirectly from offering person to trade on the information.

4. O’Hagan held that this rule was within the SEC’s rulemaking authority.

v. Wellman v. Dickinson (p 864) (2nd Cir. 1982) because of all the rules that apply to TOs, the boundary drawing question of when a certain purchase is part of a TO becomes extremely important.

1. Would purchase of a block order of 33% of shares at .5 points over market price be a TO?  Usually block trades are initiated by the seller, but nothing that prevents a buyer from seeking a block.  

2. Directly solicited a group of institutional investors  and told them a short period of time in which they could sell their shares.

3. Test under Wellman—8 factors but don’t tell you how to weigh them:

a. Active and widespread solicitation of public SHs

b. Solicitation made for a substantial percentage of the issuer’s stock 

c. Offered over prevailing market price

d. Terms are fixed rather than negotiable

e. Contingent on fixed number of shares

f. Only open for a limited period of time

g. Offeror subject to pressure to sell his/her stock

h. Public announcement

4. Wellman not all that helpful in terms of defining TOs, but get to see what really smart lawyers do when there is legal uncertainty.  Everyone in the room knew they were skating close to the line.  Took a calculated risk.  Wouldn’t take the risk if it was a question of your client having to go to jail; question of divesting.  As long as your client knows this, you’re serving their interests.

vi. Hanson Trust PLC v. SCM Corp (p 875) (2nd Cir. 1985)

1. HT follows the same analytical approach followed in Purina when thinking about whether the private offering exemption applies.  Doesn’t look to objective factors, but to whether the investors need the protection.

2. Hostile offer and the target found partner.  HT terminated their TO b/c of lock up with white knight.  Many arbs were scared of being stuck with their shares and were willing to sell.

3. HT decides to go and buy the shares from people in the marketplace; buys from privately negotiated purchases with 5 private sellers.

4. Court concludes there is no tender offer because the arbitrageurs do not need the protection of the Securities Act.

vii. Hypo:  assume broker uses Autex, an electronic system that disseminates info to subscribing institutional investors, which indicates for one day the broker’s interest in purchasing BD shares w/o identifying the buyer.  TO?  

1. Suppose solicited 50 institutional investors

2. Half way between face to face and not.  Under Wellman may be a TO, under Hanson, not a TO because these people can take care of themselves and not much pressure.

viii. Rule 14d-2:  When does a TO commence?

1. Commences at 12:01a.m. when the bidder has first sent, published or given means to tender to security holders.  Means include statement of how transmittal from may be obtained.

2. Rule is trying to tie it to a much more easily defined event—the providing of the means to tender.

a. Placing a block order: no means to tender so not a TO?

b. Used Autex: no means to tender have been published or sent.

f. Disclosures at the Takeout

i. When determining obligations, ALWAYS go through both state and federal law, as well as stock exchange rules; if you don’t, client may get in legal trouble.

ii. Hypo: go back to Weinberger and problem on page 896.  Have Signal and a cash out merger w/ UOP; public owns 49.5% of UOP.  Disclosure obligations?

1. Not a proxy contest, but to get SH approval you need proxy solicitation so presumably, proxy rules will apply.  Additionally, maybe 13d of 34 Act and Rule 13e-3.

2. But, not exactly purchasing securities issued by it, so maybe 13e-3 doesn’t apply, but Rule 13e-3 applies to transactions by affiliates 13e-3(a)(1), affiliate person who directly or indirectly through affiliates or intermediaries—Signal is an affiliate.  Purchase because purchase includes acquisitions prior to a merger.  Assume 13e-3 is valid.

3. Under Rule 13e-3, is there an obligation to disclose to public SHs the report prepared by A&C?  

a. Schedule 13E-3.  Anything here require disclosure of A&C report?  Items 7,8,9 take you to Reg MA:  “any report, opinion, or appraisal” relating to fairness of transaction.   Is this study concluding that it would be a good investment for Signal to acquire the remaining 49.5% of UOP shares at any price up to $24 an “appraisal, report, or opinion?”

iii. Flynn v. Bass Bros Enterprises, Inc (p 887)

1. In this case, SEC tried to discourage disclosure of soft information.  

2. Later, SEC was convinced that in order to properly value companies want to know stream of future earnings for NPV.  To do this, need an idea of what future earnings are—thus, requiring projections of future earnings—precisely the kind of info the SEC was against in 1976.

3. Problem is that the projections are often inadequate and unless you contain a safe harbor, mgmt will be reluctant to do this.
iv. Howing Co v. Nationwide (p 896)

v. William M. Skeen v. Jo-Ann Stores (supp 413)

vi. Reg 16b—applies to beneficial owners of 10% or more of an issuer’s securities.  If you sell and purchase or purchase and sell you have to disgorge any profits or losses avoided—(within 6 months).

vii. Hart-Scott Rodino Act—HSR

1. Because it’s so hard to unscramble the eggs—congress decided it was important to give regulators advanced warning of transactions before they take place.  

2. 18A Pre merger notification and waiting period.  Prohibition on going forward with acquiring any voting securities prior to the expiration date of the waiting period IF (to which this notification will apply):

a. Acquiring person or person whose assets are being acquired...

b. As a result of such acquisition the acquiring person would hold an aggregate amount

i. In excess of $200m.  Upward cap on the position you can acquire.  In some companies this will be less than 5% (unless you can find a way around HSR).

ii. Excess of $50m, but not in excess of $200m when:

1. Any voting securities or assets of a person engaged in manufacturing... which has annual sales or total assets of $10m or more... which is being acquired by any person that has assets of $100m or more.  This is the antitrust side.  $50m cap trigger on notification in the manufacturing sector.  Not a very high ceiling OR

2. Any voting securities...NOT in manufacturing (so financial sector and service) that has total assets of $10m or more... being acquired by a company with $100m or more...OR when a bigger company is being acquired by a smaller company.

c. If HSR applies you have to file the notice and you have to wait.

g. Caught by 13(d), but not 14(d):

i. Buying stock and acquiring as much as you can—but have not made a TO.  

ii. 14(d) ONLY triggered w/ TO.

iii. Or, could avoid having to disclose if you just make a tender offer for 60% because you wouldn’t have to disclose until after you have already acquired all the shares.

IV. Risks of Losing the Target

a. Letter of Intent

i. Why would sophisticated parties enter into a letter of intent?  By making a tentative agreement on price, means that you then move on to discuss other issues w/ the assumption being that you can agree on other things later.

ii. But, if committing to writing means legally committed, then you wouldn’t do it.  More likely you record it on a tape because allows you to get around writing requirement.  

iii. As examine cases, see that it’s a moving target.  Ex post, courts have this impression—and they look back and see what they consider to be bad acts by one side or the other.  At the end of the day, can’t have a complex negotiation unless you have some mechanism to have these tentative partial sorts of non legally enforceable agreements.

iv. United Acquisition Corp v. Banque Paribas (p 567) (S.D.N.Y. 1985)

1. Paribas owns URI, which owns URC.  

2. Argument is there is a binding agreement between Paribas and URI:

a. Letter on Nov 15 speaks to “warranties and conditions”—20 of them—are they boilerplate or do they have a transaction specific meaning?  Buyer wants to ensure that financial statements are accurate.  Would banks be willing to give that representation?  Bank has just come into possession of the assets so how can they possible certify that the audited financial statements are “complete, correct, and prepared w/ GAAP?

3. Buyer also wants to make sure aren’t superior creditors.  This isn’t boilerplate.  Client may think it’s just lawyers being lawyers, but if it turned out that there was this sort of mortgage and the lawyer wasn’t being a lawyer and didn’t protect against it, the client would be disappointed.

4. Considerations that may help determine if parties agree to be bound:

a. Whether a party has explicitly stated, “that it reserves the right to be bound only when a written agreement is signed.”

b. “Whether one party has partially performed, and that performance has been accepted by the party disclaiming the contract”

c. Whether there is literally nothing left to negotiate or settle so that all that remained to be done was to sign what had already been fully agreed to.

v. Reasons for representations and warranties: two problems when negotiations any sort of agreement 
1. Asymmetry of information

2. Allocation of risk

vi. Arnold Palmer Gold Company v. Fuqua Industries (p 577) (6th Cir. 1976)

1. Palmer disappointed because Fuqua was going to buy 25% and bailed.  Was an agreement with 11 conditions.  Does fact that there is no language in the agreement that explicitly says not binding render it not an enforceable contract?

a. Defense says no explicit language making it binding and that section 11 makes it clear that obligations are subject to fulfillment of following conditions.

b. Court reversed grant of SJ, and remanded declaring that the court should look to extrinsic evidence to determine whether or not meant to be binding.  Lack of explicit language doesn’t make it a prima facie non-binding contract.

vii. California Natural v. Nestle Holdings  (p 583) (D.N.J. 1986)

1. Claim by P was that there was an oral agreement at an earlier date.  Court said couldn’t conclude as a matter of law that no oral contract existed.

2. Case is here as a warning—with a sufficiently stubborn court—even if put language in that says not binding courts can find their way around it; why letters of intent terrify lawyers.

viii. Best Efforts Clauses, No-Shop Clauses and the Board’s Power and Duties

ix. Here, we’re looking at it from perspective of buyer rather than SHs; not a self contained section b/c have a zillion cases involving this, ACE, Omnicare—all involve these sets of issues.

x. Example: selling a house if house on the market and someone comes along with an offer lower than your asking price there are clearly risks to taking it and risks to turning it down.  Possibility could get the buyer to agree to accepting their offer conditional on no higher offers, but you will likely have to give them something in return.

xi. Have auctions—and in normal rules there is a finality rules which gets bidders to bid closest to their valuation, but is there a finality rule in DE?

xii. Imagine a privately held company w/ two SHs.  A owns 60% and B owns 40%.  Can A and B enter into a binding agreement to sell it?  How could they make it binding?

1. Just A couldn’t sell his shares b/c a buyer would probably be unwilling to part with $60m not knowing if he’d get the rest of the company.

2. You’d like to have a merger agreement b/t buyer and seller, but afraid that’s not enough because worried what the SHs will do under 251.  Want a way to lock the SHs in.

a. In the private company context you could have an agreement between A and B—can have a certain to an auction and moreover, could decide to sell by auction or by negotiation.

3. Now look at selling a public company—worried about entrenching mgmt and about bidders constantly being topped.  The question of enforceability of the merger agreement primarily arises under the Revlon line of cases where the company is being sold.

4. Back to the basics:  Assume Warren Buffect has decided he wants to sell BH.  Along comes a buyer, Blackstone who says wants to buy BH.  WB owns 48% of BH.  Legally, what’s necessary for the company to be sold?

a. Under 251, first need board recommendation and next a SH vote.  Each side has a veto in this transaction.

b. Interesting question is to what extent can Warren, as opposed to the board, negotiate the transaction (problem in MacMillan) and to what extent can Blackstone lock up the deal with Warren such that if a topping bid comes in from another group, BS still gets it (Omnicare situation). 

c. In a normal circumstance—where we have no Warren Buffect—but rather, have a Time Warner with dispersed SHs—when Blackstone comes along and says they want to buy TW, to what extent will that be an enforceable agreement?  Look to Con Agra v. Cargill.

xiii. Con-Agra v. Cargill (p 589) (Neb 1986)

1. CA entered into a letter of intent with MBPXL, anticipating a potential 251 stock merger.  Then, Cargill starts buying 26% of MBPXL from individual SHs and launches a TO for $27; soon thereafter had acquired 92% of MBPXL common stock.

2. Con Agra alleges breach of contract by MBPXL on the theory that the letter of intent contractually bound directors of MBPXL to use their best efforts in consummating the contract with CA.

3. Assuming the letter of intent was an enforceable K, was there a breach of it?

4. Question goes back to S v. VG and whether the board fulfilled its fiduciary duties.

a. MBPXL says yes b/c the company had waited forever for someone to bid and thus had ran a market test and that they thought if someone offered a higher price they could take it.

b. Ct said NO, this was not in the agreement and no proof they could do this so in breach of fiduciary duties. 

c. This is the piece of S v. VG that incrementally is reversed; as time goes by DE takes the position that any provision of a merger agreement that would prevent directors from fulfilling their fiduciary duties of entertaining higher bids would be invalid.

5. Court says there was no breach of the letter of intent with Con Agra because once MBPXL learned of the Cargill offer, the best efforts clause could not relieve directors of their duty to act in best interest of SHs.  Once a better offer came along they could no long have recommended the Con Agra proposal.

6. What could they have recommended under DE law?  Can they ever bind themselves to recommend a deal regardless of subsequent events?

a. Basically, NO—not if they change their mind whether it’s in the best interest of SHs.

7. Could a DE corporation’s board ever bind itself to submit the merger to SHs for their vote regardless of subsequent events? (whether they recommend it or not?)

a. Yes, pursuant to § 146.  Clear answer.

8. In DE, have this imperfect enforceability of merger agreements so want to do things that de facto make them more enforceable—get a higher price for assets this way.  How far along the path to de facto enforceability can you go?

a. Know that if a topping bid comes along, with widely dispersed SHs, they will vote down the lower price.

b. Lock-ups: bd agrees to sell some of its assets at a reduced price to the proposed bidder.  

i. But bd still can’t commit the SHs the merger b/c they get to vote under 251.

ii. Bd can issue a stock lock up as long as the charter has the amount authorized, but unissued (and issues less than 20%) the BoD can enter into this transaction pursuant to 261.

c. Lock ups increase enforceability b/c deter other bidders b/c will have to pay more for less assets.

d. BUT counter argument that the lock up will reduce the reservation price of BOTH bidders by the amount of the lock up.  

i. Assume company worth $150 to BS and worth $160 to TPG.  Enter into asset lock up to buy HBO for $1b when worth $2b.  Now, to TPG the company will only be worth $159b—arg why TPG will be less likely to top the bid.  But suppose that now only worth $149 to BS.  Bs has to say either get the company for $149.5b or trigger asset lock up and get $1b by purchasing an asset at a discount.

ii. Here, it would make more sense to buy the asset lock up.  Argument is that the lock up affects everyone’s reservation price the same and does not affect who wins the bid—just pushes down the bidding price.  

iii. But, there are circumstances where a lock up CAN preclude another bid:

1. Suppose lock up is offering $70b in assets for $1.  Now BS and TPG’s reservation price goes below the bid so it’s preclusive of any other bid.  Second concern is that lock up is so large that SHs will never vote it down.  Both preclusive.

iv. Under normal circumstances, a lock up is essentially a termination fee, but with assets (unless, of course, TPG would only be interested in TW if it got HBO).

e. Next device is a break up fee—does not increase likelihood of transaction closing, unless huge.  Just make BS’s feel less bad if transactions don’t close.

f. No-shop or no-talk provision

i. No shop says cannot go out and solicit competing bids and makes it less likely competing bids will emerge.

ii. No talk says can’t talk with anyone who wants to walk with you.

g. Under DE law, a preclusive lock up would be void.  Additionally, coercive deal protection measures won’t be valid.
xiv. Deal Protection Devices

1. Can the bd, by means of a merger agreement, bind the corporation to a merger?

a. If they can’t, then why do we have these cases on termination fees?  Why are corporations ever on the hook to pay them?!  Have the Brazen liquidated damages way of looking at them and the Unocal way of looking at them.  

b. If a merger agreement cannot be a valid obligation of the corporation w/o approval of the SHs, then why doesn’t that end the analysis?

c. Look more closely that the proposition that a merger agreement cannot be valid absent SH approval.  Go to statute:

i. § 251 (b)—bd of directors of EACH corp that desires to merge and consolidate shall adopt a resolution approving an agreement of merger or consolidation and suggesting its advisability.

1. NOTE this talks about an agreement—“ the agreement shall state... terms and conditions and so forth”

ii. “...the agreement so adopted shall be executed and acknowledged in accordance with § 103 of this title.”

d. Whenever this chapter approves any “instrument to be acknowledged” gives rather formal instruments that count as acknowledgement.  The execution part has fairly formal requirements.  

e. On face of it, 251(b) looks like the bd of directors, acting in accordance w/ terms of 251(b) and 103 CAN, in fact, commit the corporation to a merger agreement.

f. The short hand we’ve been using is that it’s not valid unless recommended by BoD and approved by SHs.

g. 251(c)—the agreement  required by (b) shall be submitted to SHs ....the agreement shall be considered in a vote taken for its adoption or rejection...if majority votes for it, that fact shall be certified on the agreement.  If adopted by both corps and their SHs, it shall be filed and becomes effective in accordance with 103 of this title.  What is this step doing?!

i. Know from 251(c) that no MERGER can become effective after SH vote—this merger is not effective absent agreement by SHs.

ii. If SHs don’t vote for it, the MERGER does not happen—the underlying consolidation of the companies.  But there is NOTHING in 251(b) or (c) that says the SH AGREEMENT requires SH approval!

iii. 251(b) makes it clear that the BOARD, and only the bd, has the authority to enter into a merger agreement.

iv. As a contract law matter, it’s not a condition precedent to the validity of the merger agreement; it’s a condition subsequent to the implementation and the effectiveness of the merger agreement.  Leaves open the question that there is at least a prima facie case that the provisions of the merger agreement are prima facially valid.  That’s why these cases are talking about whether the particular provisions are valid in terms of fiduciary duty analysis or liquidated damages analysis, but that’s to recognize that the agreement itself is a valid contract of the corporation.

v. Under what circumstances are these termination fees valid?

xv. Brazen
1. Puzzle here is why is it not decided as a business judgment rule or at least a Unocal analysis?  Is the break up fee provision contained in the merger agreement?

2. Liquidated damages:  are there even liquidated damages here?!  They are contractually agreed damages to be paid in the event of breach.  Is there a breach here?  

a. Not getting SH approval is not a “breach”—this contract was terminated in accordance w/ it terms so NO breach in this K.  This is a weird situation to be talking about liquidated damages.  Lawyers messed up and called them liquidated damages rather than a penalty—there could be situations where would function as liquidated damages, but not here.

3. If DE practitioner writing a merger agreement and you’re the bidder—what is the significance of Brazen to you as a deal lawyer?  

a. If you expressly put in that it’s a liquidated damages provision and not a break up fee they’re not going to do a BJR.

b. Would you rather have this analyzed as a liquidated damages provision or a BJR?

c. Page 610—this percentage falls well within the “range of termination fees”—2.8%, 2%, 3%, etc.  This is 2%.  Take away is that 2% at least is okay.  Want to know how big a termination fee you can put into your agreement.  Other cases that go up as high as 3.5%.  Some others that go above that.

4. No deal lawyer in their right mind says they are liquidated damages; instead say it’s a termination fee.  Want legal certainty.  

5. Interesting question why the courts have this preoccupation with contractually agreed upon damages—skeptically approach it so deal lawyers don’t want to back into this uncertainty.  

6. Are there limits for the termination fee?

a. Can’t be coercive.  

i. Odd to find in a liquidated damages analysis.  This language comes from Unitrin.  Unocal says has to be a threat and response has to be proportional.  Unitrin then says that proportionality is determined by whether the defensive measure is “preclusive or coercive.”

ii. We are in Unocal land, though not Revlon land b/c stock for stock deal.  

b. From a SH perspective clearly can be in their interest to pay a termination fee—may be the only way parties are willing to enter into an agreement.  

b. The Acquisition Agreement

i. Started w/ talking about the enforceability of letters of intent, then the enforceability of particular agreements—termination fees, etc.  Now we get to question of the enforceability of the merger agreement itself and whether it constitutes an enforceable contract b/t the two corporations.

ii. IBP v. Tyson (supp 308) (Del. Ch. 2001)

1. Tyson and Smithfield are both interested in a merger with IBP. 

2. Eventually, Tyson wins the auction.  

3. Contest for control and both Tyson and Smithfield interested in acquiring IBP.  What’s our std of review?  What’s the consideration?  If cash, it’s clearly Revlon.  If it’s shares, you want to know whether or not there is a control SH after the merger (Paramount v. QVC).  It Tyson’s control Tyson and going to be controlling SH of IBP, then Revlon still applies.

4. They in fact structure this transaction as a 251 merger that has already gone past the stage of 251(c), SH approval.  

a. If had been structured as a TO for IBP shares and Tyson gets cold feet, what are Tyson’s options?  If TO has closed, already owns shares and it’s too late.  If TO has not closed, just end the TO.

b. Could have a TO as part of merger agreement, but not this case.

5. § 251(d) gives the bd the right to abandon the merger after it has been agreed upon by the SHs but before it becomes effective.  Doesn’t say terminated w/o liability or w/o regard to other contractual obligations, but give the BoD the power to terminate not withstanding the approval of the SHs.

a. Could argue must have been in there b/c otherwise wouldn’t have had the power to terminate OR could say that if it was in there, then they would have had the right to terminate.
6. Was there a basis in the merger agreement to terminate the merger?

a. Big case on “MAC or MAE”—material adverse change or material adverse effect.  Very common in merger agreements.  Risk b/t time of merger agreement and time of closing.  As saw when we worked through the provisions of the letter of intent case—these kind of provisions are not boilerplate, but allocating uncertainty and ambiguity.  Critical provisions to any sort of merger agreement.

b. Any sorts of ambiguity in the contractual opinions are read in favor of IBP b/c Tyson didn’t have much credibility with the court.

c. Get a fair amount of insight as to what happens at trial—get this cross-examination of why it would matter how the changes were disclosed.  Very effective bit of litigating.

d. Could Tyson have paid a damages remedy?  Not obvious.

7. The notion that a chancellor would order specific performance of a merger is huge.  

a. Question of specific performance—why do it?

b. Normal measure in breach of K case is damages.

V. Conclusion

a. This case is really a course on DE common law.  In the M&A cases one sees exactly how common law a system DE is.  It’s a CL system very much in 19th century sense.  Very hard to find as pure an example of CL adjudication as someone finds in DE corp law in general and in M&A cases in particular.  Statute is there, but the structure of analysis  from a code, but from DE cases—primarily from 1985!  

b. This is a fundamentally different system than what you find in other countries—UK and Europe and even from other states.

c. Know the cases, what they stand for, and use them to approach new problems.  Always look to cases.

VI. Review Session

a. How can the bd give out information w/o triggering Revlon duties?

i. One way is for the bd to determine and make clear that it’s not willing to sell until it finds out what it may get.  Could enter into a standstill agreement here.

ii. Could also say interested in making an investment.

b. If trying to make a claim against directors in Revlon—that they acted in gross negligence; question becomes what is the damages for this breach?

i. Short answer is difference b/t what they got and what the company is worth.  What is the typical remedy for a violation of Revlon duties—typically injunctive, not damages.  In theory, the valuation methodology of MPN would warrant an award of damages; problem is that under the normal Revlon situation is not such a possibility.  If change it to a duty of loyalty when selling it to themselves, then may get this valuation measure.

c. CS, 60% of company, public SHs 40% of company.  

i. If control SH does transaction—Weinberger subject to entire fairness.  But if want to avoid this may say—first make TO up to 40% and anything we don’t get we’ll do with a 253 merger.  Siliconix, Glassman, Pathe issue.  No entire fairness duty w/ respect to a TO.  

ii. Then, get to Strine’s opinion that tries to bring this closer to the parent subsidiary merger—says no entire fairness duty of a “non-coercive” tender offer; in defining this, he builds in the protections from the requirements arising out of a 60% sh.  

iii. If fails the coercive test, may the minority take steps against the control SH (Hollinger) by adopting a poison pill?  Know in some circumstances board may.  No cases that have held that the board must—though one could argue in a number of ways why the bd should adopt a poison pill against a control SH.  Could ask if they did—if so, the control SH could change the board, then suppose those directors then withdraw the poison pill (which would likely spark a lot of claims), but no DE cases that go down this route.

d. Know under Kahn v. Lynch, if do nothing burden is entire fairness (for parent-sub).  If adopt independent negotiating structure can shift burden of proof to P.  if you do BOTH, can you ever get beyond shifting burden to P and getting beyond entire fairness std?  Answer is no, so this provides zero incentive to adopt this ind negotiating structure b/c you don’t get anything from it.

e. 109—by laws can contain any by laws not inconsistent with the corp or the law....anything in by laws that say directors have to retire at age X.  if look at 141(b)—number shall be fixed...the by laws or CoI may prescribe other qualifications for directors—can say age 70.  Could say no conflict b/t 141 and 109 b/c 141 specifically anticipates setting conditions by by-law.  If there is an explicit provision that certain kinds of things are provided for by by-law then can certainly have a SH initiated by law.  If not specifically permitted, but not specifically disallowed—then need to find a theory of 141.  If try by by-law to limit what directors may redeem... Need to take each proposal on its terms.

f. 144—curiosity why cts haven’t used it more b/c it governs self-interested transactions.  It’s a puzzle—not an answer for it right now.  Ambiguity whether it applies to director transactions or controlling SH transactions.  Don’t talk about it so don’t talk about why they don’t talk about it!

g. Hollinger is going against the grain of DE law.  It generally says that control SHs get to sell control as they wish; in the exercise of their ownership rights of their shares they don’t owe fiduciary duties to the non controlling SHs.  All cases we’ve seen where if a control SH  like a deal, can vote no.

i. Strine is trying to reach a result where Conrad Black loses

h. All pills you will see are flip in and flip over.  No question on the face of the legality of these pills.

i. If company has a 102(b)(7) provision in charter directors won’t be “liable”

j. If a topping bid comes in after a bid have closed, could a P get an injuction to prevent the bid from going forward?
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